Snowmass White Paper: Cosmology at the Theory Frontier

Raphael Flauger,^{*a*} Victor Gorbenko,^{*b*} Austin Joyce,^{*c*} Liam McAllister,^{*d*} Gary Shiu,^{*e*} Eva Silverstein^{*f*}

- ^bLaboratory for Theoretical Fundamental Physics, Institute of Physics, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland
- ^c Kavli Institute for Cosmological Physics, Department of Astronomy and Astrophysics, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL 60637
- ^dDepartment of Physics, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY 14853
- ^eDepartment of Physics, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI 53706
- ^fStanford Institute for Theoretical Physics, 382 Via Pueblo, Stanford, CA 94305
- E-mail: flauger@physics.ucsd.edu, victor.gorbenko@epfl.ch,

austinjoyce@uchicago.edu, mcallister@cornell.edu, shiu@physics.wisc.edu, evas@stanford.edu

Abstract:

The precision cosmological model describing the origin and expansion history of the universe, with observed structure seeded at the inflationary cosmic horizon, demands completion in the ultraviolet and in the infrared. The dynamics of the cosmic horizon also suggests an associated entropy, again requiring a microphysical theory. Recent years have seen enormous progress in understanding the structure of de Sitter space and inflation in string theory, and of cosmological observables captured by quantum field theory and solvable deformations thereof. The resulting models admit ongoing observational tests through measurements of the cosmic microwave background and large-scale structure, as well as through analyses of theoretical consistency by means of thought experiments. This paper, prepared for the TF01 and TF09 conveners of the Snowmass 2021 process, provides a synopsis of this important area, focusing on ongoing developments and opportunities.

^aDepartment of Physics, UC San Diego, La Jolla, CA, 92093

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	de Sitter space and inflation in string theory	3
	2.1 General structure	3
	2.2 Power-law stabilization	5
	2.3 Nonperturbative stabilization	7
3	Effective field theory and cosmology	11
	3.1 EFT approach to inflation	11
	3.2 The cosmological bootstrap	12
	3.3 Initial conditions classically	14
	3.4 Initial conditions semiclassically	15
	3.5 Nonperturbative physics of inflationary EFT	16
4	Cosmological holography	18
5	Observational tests	21
	5.1 Tests of inflation	21
	5.2 Limits on axions	22
6	Connections to other areas	24
	6.1 Mathematics	24
	6.2 Machine learning	25

Introduction 1

The observed universe is very accurately described by a concordance cosmology in which inflation prepares the initial conditions for the hot Big Bang and ACDM cosmology governs the subsequent evolution. The development of this precision model involved evolution from a well-motivated and transformative theory of the quantum origin of structure [1-5], through detailed theoretical predictions for observables [6], to observations confirming the predictions, most recently by the Planck mission [7, 8]. The concordance cosmology is a remarkably deep and successful phenomenological model, but it is not yet a microphysical theory. Instead, it is a starting point for more complete studies of early and late universe physics, whose observables are ultraviolet-sensitive, i.e. dependent on high-energy physics [9], and are also dynamically rich in the infrared, i.e. at low energies and late times. One of the cardinal tasks for any complete formulation of quantum gravity is to give a microphysical explanation of the accelerating expansion of the universe. The potential energy landscape of string theory provides a framework for this problem, and recent years have seen significant progress, though not yet a complete solution.

Many reviews and white papers — see e.g. [10-12] and [13-19] — recount aspects of research at the interface of modern string theory, quantum field theory, and cosmology, but none is entirely up to date in this rapidly evolving field. In this white paper we summarize the status of this important area along several axes, focusing on exciting recent advances and future prospects.

The rich and highly structured landscape of string theory yields well-developed mechanisms for de Sitter spacetime, dark energy, and early universe inflation. This connection introduces meaningful, but model-dependent, observational tests of ideas from string theory. Recent advances include new classes of compactifications exploiting the rigidity properties of generic internal manifolds, as well as derivation of explicit control parameters in these and previous de Sitter models. Below we detail these developments and the new opportunities they raise. We also highlight key features of standard models of de Sitter space, large-field inflation, and small-field inflation in string theory. In the process, we emphasize the opportunities in axion physics broadly construed, both because of exciting near-future observational opportunities and because of the apparent universality of axions within string theory.

Formal low energy effective field theory (EFT) has also seen advances in characterizing infrared physics in the accelerating universe, including nonperturbative aspects of the wavefunction and probability distribution for primordial perturbations, such as the strength of the tails. At the same time, elegant calculations and constraints on correlators related to amplitude and bootstrap theory help to organize the observables, particularly in highly symmetric versions of inflation. Moreover, deformations of quantum field theory involving $T\bar{T}$ [20] and generalizations extend the solvable theory space relevant for holographically formulating cosmological spacetimes.

In addition to making the connection to real observables, these developments also yield concrete progress on the abstract problem of cosmological quantum gravity. Advances here include fourdimensional de Sitter uplifts of AdS/CFT, emergent geometry and microstate counts from a solvable generalization of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation, and new handles on Euclidean quantum gravity effects.

The observational prospects remain bright. Cosmic microwave background (CMB) polarization studies are progressing in space and on the ground, as are large-scale structure (LSS) surveys, bolstered by the latest astrophysics decadal process. The latter yields a compelling theoretical challenge to extract primordial information from LSS using effective theories, simulations, and numerical methods such as machine learning (ML). This program includes following through on standard sources of non-Gaussianity in low point correlators, such as the equilateral shape, as well as nonperturbative aspects related to higher n-point functions.

Finally, we note that even in this arena focused on the theoretical underpinnings of subtle cosmological and abstract quantum gravity observables, connections to industry are possible. A growing set of numerical results appear in the current literature, applying ML to metrics and more general partial differential equations arising in string compactifications, and applying insights from cosmological models into machine learning itself, e.g. in optimization.

2 de Sitter space and inflation in string theory

2.1 General structure

String/M-theory exhibits a complex configuration space connecting regions with varying dimensionalities *D*, topologies, geometries, and quantized fluxes. To model cosmology, we are interested in dimensional reduction to four dimensions, with weak curvature yielding approximate Einstein gravity and dynamics consistent with the observed Λ CDM cosmology. The rich but constrained structure of the string/M-theory configuration space yields a number of consistent mechanisms for de Sitter and early universe inflation, some with novel signatures testable with CMB and LSS data. Moreover, there exist solutions providing direct uplifts of AdS/CFT systems, giving insight into the microphysics of de Sitter quantum gravity.

String theory famously contains gravity. Essentially as universal is the presence of axions [21–23] in the four-dimensional effective theories arising from string theory. Axion fields descend either directly from the D > 4 dimensional theory, or via nontrivial internal topology threaded by gauge fields of appropriate rank. Axions feature in all known weakly-interacting limits of the theory — regardless of model-dependent properties such as the presence or absence of supersymmetry at low energies — and admit observational testing in diverse parameter regions and datasets. Axions have an underlying period that is small in Planck units [24], but couple to fluxes and branes so as to exhibit a monodromy-extended potential with a branched structure. Compactifications with rich internal topology give rise to a large number of axions (cf. [25]), with a multi-axion potential determined by such couplings. In the early universe these fields provide natural inflaton candidates, and in the late universe they provide dark matter candidates, as well as the possibility of incorporating the QCD axion to solve the strong CP problem. In many cases they may even be ultralight in the late universe, yielding additional phenomenological effects.

The effective potential for scalar and pseudoscalar (i.e., axion) fields in four dimensions is a central object for studying cosmology in string theory. For a *D*-dimensional warped product

$$ds^{2} = u(y)ds_{4}^{2} + g_{ij}^{(D-4)}(y)dy^{i}dy^{j}, \qquad (2.1)$$

the effective potential in the four-dimensional Einstein frame takes the form [26]

$$V_{\text{eff}}\left(g^{(D-4)},\dots\right) = \frac{\ell_D^{D-2}}{2G_N^2 \langle u_c \rangle^2} \int d^{D-4}y \sqrt{g^{(D-4)}} e^{-2\Phi} u_c^2 \left(-R^{(D-4)} - \frac{1}{4}\ell_D^{D-2}T_\mu^\mu - 3\left(\nabla u_c/u_c\right)^2\right),\tag{2.2}$$

in terms of the solution $u = u_c$ of the internal constraint equation

$$\nabla^2 u - \frac{1}{3} \left(R^{(D-4)} + \frac{1}{4} \ell_D^{D-2} T^{\mu}_{\mu} \right) u = \frac{C}{6} , \qquad (2.3)$$

where C is a constant, ℓ_D is the D-dimensional Planck length, $T_{\mu\nu}$ encodes the stress-energy sources in the theory, and we have defined

$$\langle u_c \rangle := \int d^{D-4} y \sqrt{g^{(D-4)}} e^{-2\Phi} u_c \,.$$
 (2.4)

A maximally symmetric solution to all of the equations of motion yields $V_{\text{eff}} = C/4G_N$. The expression (2.2) is applicable in perturbative string theory regimes, for which we have pulled out the dependence on the string coupling $g_s = e^{\Phi}$. In the M-theory limit of 11-dimensional supergravity, the formula is the same but without the e^{Φ} factors.

The sources of stress-energy appearing in (2.2)-(2.3), as well as the the internal curvature and warp factor gradients, dilute at large radius and weak coupling [27], requiring at minimum a threeterm structure in those runaway directions in field space [28]. Most contributions to the potential are positive, with the leading (tree-level and least dilute) source in T^{μ}_{μ} being the term proportional to $D - D_c$ [28–32], with D_c the critical dimension. The next-to-leading terms in the potential are the (generically negative) contributions of the internal curvature and warp factor variations, followed by the effects of branes and fluxes. Negative intermediate terms in the expansion about large radius and weak coupling play a key role, and emerge from orientifold planes or quantum effects (e.g. perturbative Casimir energy [33] or nonperturbative instanton effects [34]). The solutions of interest arise when terms at different orders in the expansion can compete, which requires a large or small number in the system, for example a large ratio of integers characterizing the topology or the configuration of quantized fluxes (see e.g. [35]). In cases where quantum effects govern the vacuum structure, the stability of the extra dimensions of string theory proves analogous to the stability of ordinary matter and of degenerate stars, both of which depend on quantum mechanics, as does the simplest theory of the origin of structure in the universe [5].

Scalar and pseudoscalar fields in the four-dimensional effective theory descend from geometric deformations δg_{ij} , while pseudoscalars descend from potential fields $C^{(p)}$ [36]; collective coordinates of branes, if present, also yield scalars or pseudoscalars. Geometric deformations enjoy several stabilizing features: the warp factor buttresses the conformal mode of the internal metric, as explained in [26], and many compactification manifolds are negatively curved and rigid, exhibiting a strong positive Hessian for metric deformations [33, 37], along with simple mechanisms for stabilizing the overall volume. Other well-studied cases such as Calabi-Yau compactifications exhibit *moduli*, i.e. scalar fields that are massless at tree level. Such compactifications are amenable to treatment by means of algebraic geometry, in part as a consequence of the supersymmetry that they preserve. Moduli in Calabi-Yau compactifications can be stabilized via a combination of fluxes [38] and branes and nonperturbative effects [34, 39].

The pseudoscalar contribution to the potential arises via the structure of fluxes in string theory, and the corresponding brane sources. Fluxes $F_{r+1} = dC_r$ appear in combinations of the form $\tilde{F}_{p+1} = F_{p+1} - C_q \wedge F_{p+1-q}$. The T^{μ}_{μ} term in (2.2) includes a contribution from the squared generalized flux $\tilde{F} \wedge \star \tilde{F}$, leading to a direct dependence on the axions $c = \int_{\Sigma} C$ threading cycles Σ . Importantly, higher powers of generalized fluxes are suppressed at weak coupling and large radius,¹ and hence are negligible over a large, super-Planckian field range in many models. Although the leading axion dependence in the potential appears quadratic, it very often flattens out due to the (frequently calculable) backreaction of the axion energy on metric components [40, 41]. This backreaction affects the masses of other degrees of freedom, but basic calculations in the controlled regime of large radius in various models show that this can be a small effect over the $\mathcal{O}(10)$ Planck units required to model early universe inflation.² Similar comments apply to the brane couplings of axions. Nonperturbative effects, on the

 $^{^{1}}$ In addition to the dilution in space, Ramond-Ramond fluxes appear with a power of the string coupling.

²We review particular examples of this shortly.

other hand, contribute oscillatory axion-dependent terms in V_{eff} ; these are small corrections in many parameter regimes.

The methods used to achieve theoretical control in this class of problems are standard in theoretical physics. Tools include perturbation theory (including large-N and large-D expansions), instanton calculus, mathematical theorems (relevant examples include the existence of the Calabi-Yau metric and the rigidity of the explicitly known hyperbolic metric), worldsheet methods (an example being the timelike linear dilaton solution, exact on the worldsheet and tachyon-free and ghost-free for the worldsheet-supersymmetric theory in 10 + 16k dimensions), and numerical methods. Additional tools include supersymmetric constraints and integrability theory (as in the $T\bar{T}$ deformation) where applicable. These latter tools sometimes enable theoretical control of deformations extending far in coupling space, keeping track of the effect on energy levels and state counts, which is particularly useful for conceptual problems and dualities, as we discuss in the cosmological context in §4. However, modeling de Sitter space and inflation in the effective, weakly-coupled description involves no such extrapolation, and requires only perturbative control.

2.2 Power-law stabilization

In the regime of string/M theory near weak coupling and large radius, the contributions to the potential energy in (2.2) organize themselves into expansions in powers of coupling(s) and inverse radii. From the general setup of $\S2.1$, one finds subsets of terms that consistently support accelerated expansion. One example appeared soon after the discovery of the cosmological constant and the observation that string theory contains a 'discretuum' of potential energy functions [42]. The leading positive potential term $\propto D - D_c$, an exponentially strong negative contribution from orientifolds, and flux suffice to stabilize an asymmetric orbifold of supercritical string theory in a way amenable to a large-D expansion in which the negative contribution scales exponentially in D [28, 31]. This vacuum depends on a balance of forces including a flux-squared term competing with the leading string-scale scalar potential, which is justified provided higher orders in flux are either suppressed at large D(as suggested by preliminary calculations [43]) or in any case contribute net positively. Intervening years have witnessed tightening constraints on low-energy supersymmetry and on deviations from a positive cosmological constant. Advances on the theoretical side include the emergence of explicit interpolations between string backgrounds of different dimensionality, connecting $D > D_c$ and $D = D_c$ (e.g. [44, 45]), as well as further development of large D methods in general relativity and string theory. The supercritical mechanism remains viable both observationally and theoretically, warranting further investigation of the behavior of the theory at large D, which is an evidently generic parametric limit.

Several classes of models appear at $D = D_c$, and the subject has been developed in a number of works as referenced for example in [11, 12].³ An approach that incorporates strong internal gradients is [48] and predecessors. The essence of the idea is to consider a five-dimensional system that would have a single unfixed scalar σ subject to a runaway potential $V(\sigma) \sim \exp(\sigma/M_{\rm pl})$. The internal profile satisfies an ODE with solutions $\sigma(x^5)$ that approach singularities at two ends of an interval. If orientifold planes can consistently intervene before the singularity, one obtains a de Sitter solution.

The second-strongest positive term in the potential is the curvature term. Almost every manifold

 $^{^{3}}$ Errors in some significant details of [46] were discovered by [47], though the general framework and methods remain valid.

is negatively curved, as is evident already in dimension 2, and this feature appears in the models just discussed [48] as well as in [49] and in predecessors in the EFT literature [50]. Above dimension 2, such manifolds are rigid [37], as mentioned above. This fact underlies the newest class of de Sitter models [33] in M-theory on irreducible hyperbolic 7-manifolds, dressed with varying warp and conformal factors and with cusps Dehn-filled as in [51], and including 7-form magnetic flux. In these models the automatically-generated Casimir energy contributes the intermediate negative term in the overall volume stabilization. The net curvature term in the M-theory analogue of (2.2) scales as the inverse square of the curvature radius, and admits tuning to a small value via explicit discrete moves in concrete hyperbolic manifolds (see §4.1 of [33]). These features open up the possibility of parametric control, in a system simpler than the closest such analogue, which is string theory on a product of Riemann surfaces [49]. The construction of [33] can be viewed as a dS₄ uplift of the M2brane AdS/CFT duality pair, with the internal S^7 replaced by \mathbb{H}_7/Γ , providing a simpler and more realistic example in the spirit of the explicit dS₃ models [52] that uplift the D1-D5 system.

The associated literature exhibits transitions indicating the connectivity of the string/M-theory configuration space. In string theory such transitions arise via condensation of winding modes [53], and it would be very interesting to extend this phenomenon to M-theoretic regimes. In the same vein, there are concrete calculations relating the two leading terms in the potential via a natural generalization of T-duality [45]. Since $D > D_c$ and negative curvature with its infinite sequences of topologies comprise generic parametric limits of the theory, such connections deserve much further study.

Conversely, it is straightforward to write down string/M-theory backgrounds with limited stressenergy and geometric features that do *not* describe accelerated expansion. In this vein, partial no-go theorems such as [54, 55] can be useful if not overinterpreted. However, neither these nor their descendants in the literature incorporate the leading positive terms in the potential, the full complement of known branes and orientifold planes, or Casimir energy. As such, the configurations governed by such no-go theorems are manifestly non-generic, even within the class of power-law stabilization constructions. It is important to recognize that more generic ingredients in fact often simplify aspects of the analysis, enabling potential terms that contribute useful forces, and introduce rigidity of the internal dimensions. Thus, existing no-go theorems do not have significant implications concerning the existence of power-law stabilized accelerated expansion in the framework of string theory, nor do they currently impact observational predictions.

Next, let us note that the power-law stabilization setting has provided some of the simplest examples of axion monodromy, such as those in [33, 41, 56]. These scenarios illustrate the effect of backreaction on metric components, which flattens the potential to sub-quadratic powers. This backreaction also adjusts the mass spectrum of other fields, but these fields do not become light over the inflationary field range, as was specifically checked in the relevant literature starting from the original models. As a simple example, consider the $V_{inflaton} \propto \phi^{2/3}$ model summarized in equations (4.10) and (4.13) of [41]. In this example, the underlying axion b is tied by the dynamics (backreaction) to the size L of the space as $b \propto 1/L^4$, and is related to the canonically-normalized inflaton field by $\phi \propto b^{3/2}$. During inflation, ϕ evolves from $10M_{\rm pl}$ to $M_{\rm pl}$, rescaling by a factor of 1/10. Hence b rescales by a factor of $10^{-2/3}$ and L rescales by a factor of $10^{1/6}$. The change in L changes the Kaluza-Klein masses, since $M_{\rm KK} \propto 1/L$, but rescaling these those by a factor of $10^{-1/6}$ is unimportant in the dynamics. We stress that the leading backreaction of the inflaton on the other scalars, on the (flattened) shape of the potential, and on the spectrum is included in the analysis of the model — the existence of this backreaction does not invalidate the model. Quite the opposite, it explicitly illustrates why so-called plateau potentials arise from the effects of the UV completion, as predicted in [57]. In the large radius and weak coupling regime of the model, instanton effects are suppressed. See also [58, 59] and §2.3 below for a class of examples in nonperturbatively-stabilized spaces where the analogous backreaction effect can be negligible.

Generically there would be multiple fields, leading to a distribution of predictions for the tilt of the power spectrum [60]. Moreover, additional effects studied recently in [61-63] enrich the model space in a way that relates to the Hubble tension. Analyzing this systematically in the top-down multifield context is a very interesting task for the future.

To conclude this discussion of power-law stabilization, let us note additional future directions. The general expression for the effective potential (2.2) [26] in the context of explicit internal manifolds (e.g. those built from polygons, such as [64]) enables more general analysis, both analytic and numerical, exploiting the known metric, the rigidity properties, and the parametric limits obtained from sequences of manifolds (e.g. covers). One can formulate the slow roll figures of merit by taking functional derivatives of $V_{\rm eff}$ with respect to the fields and descending in that landscape. Mathematical theorems concerning systolic geometry and its relation to volume [65, 66] suggest interesting energy theorems in this context. These directions interface with the material below in §6.

2.3 Nonperturbative stabilization

Calabi-Yau threefolds are a famous class of vacuum solutions of string theory [67] that have been a wellspring of ideas in mathematics and theoretical physics. The richness of Calabi-Yau geometry stems in part from special holonomy and the corresponding supersymmetry. Moreover, Yau's proof of the Calabi conjecture allows tools of algebraic geometry to be applied to the analytic problem of the existence of a Ricci-flat metric, while duality results from string theory, particularly mirror symmetry, have led to exact results and to insights into new invariants.

This arsenal of mathematical methods has seen heavy use in the construction of realistic vacua of string theory built on compactifications on Calabi-Yau threefolds. These solutions bear the imprint of the tools used to make them: qualitative properties of the effective theories of Calabi-Yau compactifications differ from those described in §2.2. Some such properties follow from supersymmetry and the associated nonrenormalization theorems, while others are consequences of particularities of Calabi-Yau geometry itself. In this section we will summarize recent progress in finding cosmological solutions in Calabi-Yau compactifications.

In a compactification of type IIB string theory on an O3/O7 orientifold X of a Calabi-Yau threefold, the classical superpotential is determined by quantized fluxes F_3 and H_3 , the axiodilaton τ , and the holomorphic (3,0) form of X [68]:

$$W_{\text{flux}} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \int_X \left(F_3 - \tau H_3 \right) \wedge \Omega \,. \tag{2.5}$$

For sufficiently generic choices of the flux quanta, the resulting potential for the complex structure moduli has isolated minima, while the Kähler moduli remain unstabilized at leading order in the g_s and α' expansions [38]. The order parameter measuring supersymmetry breaking in these configurations

is the expectation value

$$W_0 := \langle W_{\text{flux}} \rangle, \qquad (2.6)$$

where the brackets denote evaluation on the vevs of the complex structure moduli.

The classical flux compactifications of [38] do not yield realistic effective theories, because the unstabilized Kähler moduli encode instabilities, and are sharply constrained by fifth-force tests and by cosmological limits on moduli. A natural idea is to compute quantum corrections order by order in the g_s and α' expansions, and search for isolated local minima of the resulting quantum-corrected potential energy. This approach of perturbative moduli stabilization may ultimately reveal cosmological solutions, but at present the technical task of computing (rather than modeling, cf. e.g. [69, 70]) enough terms is out of reach: see [71].⁴

An alternative strategy [34] is to compute *nonperturbative* quantum effects, and then find parameter regimes in which these effects govern the vacuum structure and give rise to isolated vacua. At first sight this computation sounds even more difficult than determining perturbative corrections. However, supersymmetry, nonrenormalization theorems, and properties of Calabi-Yau geometry make the task of computing the leading instanton effects a problem in computational topology that turns out to be solvable.

The leading approaches to nonperturbative stabilization are the KKLT scenario [34] and the Large Volume Scenario (LVS). Both rely on Euclidean D3-brane contributions to the superpotential [73] in order to stabilize the Kähler moduli. The LVS vacuum structure also rests on a well-known correction to the Kähler potential at order α'^3 [74], and, in general, on string loop corrections.

A type IIB flux compactification can contain a supersymmetric AdS_4 vacuum of KKLT type only if two conditions are met: there must exist enough rigid divisors supporting Euclidean D3-branes (or gaugino condensates on seven-branes) to stabilize the Kähler moduli, and the flux superpotential W_0 must be exponentially small in order for the minimum to exist in a parameter regime where the α' expansion is well-controlled.

To check the former condition, one needs to compute the topology of divisors in a Calabi-Yau threefold. When the number $h^{1,1}$ of Kähler moduli is of order five or smaller, this can be accomplished by the algorithm of [75], but vacua have not yet been found in this way. A tour de force analysis in [76] established the existence of enough Euclidean D3-branes in a highly symmetric example with $h^{1,1} = 51$, but generalization of this example is an open problem. More recent computational advances [77, 78] (see [79–81] for related techniques) have enabled computation at arbitrary $h^{1,1}$, and enumerating Euclidean D3-brane superpotential terms in Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces is now fast and routine [35]. Moreover, the Pfaffian prefactors of such terms are increasingly well-understood [35, 82–84].

The second necessary condition, exponential smallness of W_0 , involves solving a Diophantine equation for the flux quanta. It was shown in [85] (see the review in [86]) that in the approximation that the fluxes are continuous, and for large enough $h^{2,1}$, small W_0 should exist. However, configurations with small W_0 are rare, and even with powerful methods an optimized search is difficult [87].

Mirror symmetry provides a solution [88]. One can choose quantized fluxes to make all the terms

 $^{^{4}}$ For a recent proposal to achieve stabilization in the perturbative regime via resummation of leading logarithms, see [72].

in W_{flux} that are polynomial in the complex structure moduli vanish *exactly*. What remains are corrections that are exponentially small near large complex structure, and if these can be computed, one can arrange to balance two terms against each other in a racetrack. From the perspective of type IIA string theory on the mirror threefold the corrections in question are worldsheet instanton contributions to the prepotential, while in type IIB they are purely geometric, and can be extracted by computing the periods of Ω in an integral basis of three-cycles. The logic for such a computation is well-established [89, 90], but performing it for $h^{2,1} \gtrsim 5$ has been out of reach of published software. The algorithms given in the software package CYTools [77] solve this problem. With the instanton series in hand, one can find examples where the Gopakumar-Vafa invariants of curves, and the possible choices of quantized fluxes, combine to yield a racetrack superpotential that in turn leads to exponentially small W_0 . Many such examples have been studied [91–95], including cases with conifold regions [96, 97] (see also the related works [98, 99]). Explicit solutions with W_0 as small as 10^{-90} have been found [35].

Combining the above advances in computing Euclidean D3-brane superpotentials and flux superpotentials led to the first explicit, parametrically controlled incarnations of the KKLT scenario [35, 100]. These vacua are supersymmetric AdS_4 solutions, with all moduli stabilized, in which the magnitude of the vacuum energy is exponentially small — in some cases, smaller than $10^{-123}M_{\rm pl}^4$. Such configurations are a step toward specific de Sitter solutions of KKLT type, but several challenges remain.

One issue is that breaking supersymmetry by means of an anti-D3-brane, as in [101], sources corrections to the local field configuration [102]. Computation of the backreaction [103, 104], effective field theory arguments [105, 106], and analysis of temperature-dependence [107] give evidence for metastability, and the constrained supermultiplet formalism provides a simple packaging of the anti-D3-brane action [108, 109]. However, the anti-D3-brane is a small perturbation when the Klebanov-Strassler throat region is large, and is supported by a large quantity of D3-brane charge, so one can ask whether throats large enough for metastable anti-D3-branes can be engineered in compact models [110], which necessarily allow only a finite D3-brane charge tadpole [111]. Related tadpole constraints have been studied in [112, 113].

Furthermore, KKLT vacua with large throat regions have been argued to suffer from singularities caused by large negative D3-brane charge induced on stacks of seven-branes [114]. Evidence from a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ model in [115] suggests that the seven-branes in question are bound states of exotic branes, whose rearrangement dynamically removes the singularity. Moreover, the extent of the problem of gluing a throat into a non-singular bulk depends on the typical volume of a Calabi-Yau threefold with $h^{1,1} \gg 1$ Kähler moduli. It was noted in [35], following [116], that at the point in moduli space where the Kähler moduli are stabilized by Euclidean D3-branes, the threefold volume scales as a power of $h^{1,1}$, dramatically alleviating the problem of singularities.

A further question is the ten-dimensional field configuration corresponding to a KKLT vacuum. The interplay between the classical flux energy and the quantum effects of Euclidean D3-branes takes a simple form in the four-dimensional effective theory [34], whereas the effects of anti-D3-branes on fields other than the overall volume are most naturally analyzed in ten-dimensional supergravity (see e.g. [104, 117, 118]). One can benefit from both perspectives by representing all sources of stress-energy, including four-dimensional quantum effects, in terms of a ten-dimensional solution.

Early work established that the quantum effects of Euclidean D3-branes, or gaugino condensation on D7-branes, lead to a generalized complex geometry [119], with the gaugino bilinear sourcing fluxes [118] and deformations of the metric [120]. Constructing a consistent global solution, following initial steps in [119, 121], required further analysis [110, 122–129], particularly of four-fermion couplings [123, 125, 127, 129] and generalized complex geometry [126, 127]. Upon including the gaugino bilinear expectation value, the couplings of D7-brane gauginos to bulk fields couplings source a ten-dimensional solution that corresponds to the vacuum of the four-dimensional effective theory [125, 127]. The match was made precise in [127] using nonperturbative corrections to the Killing spinor equations, and was derived in a manifestly local manner in [129]. In summary, the ten-dimensional description meets all consistency requirements and can be applied to study couplings in global models.

A qualitatively important feature of nonperturbatively-stabilized Calabi-Yau compactifications, such as KKLT vacua, is the impact of nonperturbative couplings on inflationary observables. Such couplings are essential for computing the vacuum energy, so it is not surprising that they might impact other observables. Even so, exposing such effects has proved subtle. An early example is D-brane inflation, where leading contributions to the inflaton mass come from inflaton-dependent fluctuation determinants [9], as computed in [117, 130, 131]: see [10].

Axion monodromy inflation is another case where nonperturbative couplings can affect dynamics around nonperturbatively-stabilized vacua. Displacing an axion through one period of monodromy generally leads to the accumulation of one unit of a quantized charge. In models with moving D-branes, this is often an induced charge on a D-brane, but in other cases it can be a bulk flux. The stress-energy of this monodromy charge serves as a source term in the ten-dimensional Einstein equations, leading to backreaction on the metric and on other fields. As explained in $\S2.2$, in perturbatively-stabilized models this effect typically leads to computable flattening of the potential over a large inflationary field range. However, in nonperturbatively-stabilized models the backreaction of monodromy charge can be more problematic, because the actions of Euclidean D-branes depend sensitively on the fields sourced by monodromy charge. Furthermore, in the subclass of models where the inflaton is a moving D-brane, the relevant backreaction is that of a localized source in ten dimensions. The often-employed shortcut of dimensional reduction in the probe approximation, followed by analysis of adjustments in the vevs of fields much lighter than the Kaluza-Klein scale, captures only a subset of the leading backreaction effects, and so can understate the extent of the effect. Indeed, the adjustment of heavy fields during inflation is phenomenologically relevant in general, and is an example of the UV sensitivity of inflation and its observables [40, 132] — this is both a challenge and an opportunity.

The issue of backreaction was addressed in early examples, indicating that model-building can mitigate the problem in Calabi-Yau realizations of axion monodromy, as shown in [58, 59, 133]. However, no silver bullet solution is known, even in F-term models [56, 134, 135] and Higgs-otic models [136]: in the latter case, induced charge on a moving D7-brane has a large effect [137]. This general phenomenon could limit embeddings of the relaxion idea [138] in Calabi-Yau compactifications [133].

Constraints of this sort can give useful structure to the space of cosmological models descending from string theory: the small fundamental periods of axions in weakly-coupled limits of string theory make oscillatory features a natural concomitant of primordial gravitational waves, while backreaction leads to drifts in the frequency and amplitude of the oscillations [41, 59].⁵

⁵The phenomenon of drifting oscillations in axion monodromy also occurs in the examples discussed in §2.2 [41].

Future work on cosmologies in Calabi-Yau compactifications may be accelerated by improvements in computation, both through computational algebraic geometry, as in [75, 77, 80, 139], and through advances in machine learning (see §6.2). Computing all the leading superpotential terms in large classes of flux compactifications is becoming feasible, even in cases with many moduli. This capability makes it possible to discover new structures and new phenomena in this corner of the landscape. On the other hand, controlling corrections to the Kähler potential remains an important open problem.

3 Effective field theory and cosmology

There is a long history of developments in cosmology and in quantum field theory tracing each other. Insights from quantum field theory motivate new approaches to cosmological questions, and cosmology provides a unique arena to study high energy physics in extreme situations. This connection is in turn informed by insights and constraints from ultraviolet completion in string theory. As we recall below, in several cases EFTs were generalized to incorporate phenomena that had been discovered initially in the context of string theory, exposing hidden assumptions in the previous bottom-up theory.

The state of the primordial quantum fields is in general an unknown wave functional of a scalar ζ , a tensor γ , and additional fields χ . The likelihood, or probability of the data given the theory, is given by squaring and tracing over the non-observable fields:

$$\mathcal{L}(\zeta(x),\gamma(x)|\{\lambda\}) = \int D\chi |\Psi(\zeta(x),\gamma(x),\chi(x);\{\lambda\})|^2.$$
(3.1)

Generic inflationary theories generate nontrivial contributions to the power spectrum, along with non-Gaussian contributions at some level, with a wide variety of possible functional forms.

There is not yet a systematic understanding of the space of viable states and signatures. Recent advances very roughly divide into two themes: in one direction, researchers introduce symmetry assumptions enabling streamlined calculations of correlation functions and derivations of theorems organizing their formal properties related to the unitarity and locality of the theory. In another direction, calculable contributions to the full probability distribution function (3.1) beyond perturbative low-point correlators arise in a variety of well-motivated models with more generic interactions; in this same vein of nonperturbative analysis one can address infrared issues in inflation. In this section we briefly review these threads, along with important related results concerning initial conditions and the robustness of inflation at early times, and IR dynamics at late times.

3.1 EFT approach to inflation

A complementary approach to the top-down construction of ultraviolet realizations of inflation is to develop an effective description of the dynamics at the level of perturbations around the inflationary background. In [140, 141], such a bottom-up ideology was beautifully developed, and goes under the name of the Effective Field Theory of Inflation (EFTofI). Since observable effects originate at energy scales of order H, we may integrate out the UV to write down an EFT that captures a large class of inflationary models and reveals their universal properties. This universality follows from viewing inflation as a process of spontaneous symmetry breaking, which implies that the effective description

of inflation necessarily contains two light degrees of freedom: the scalar Nambu–Goldstone boson for the broken symmetries, and the graviton. Additional fields can also appear, leading to a wide variety of effects, including non-adiabaticity and a rich space of phenomenological signatures. Even mass scales $\gg H$ can contribute significantly to observables, as we will discuss further below. Certain effects of light sectors have been incorporated in the effective description [142-144], some of which can be motivated by spontaneously-broken SUSY [145-147]. A particularly interesting possibility is that there are degrees of freedom with masses of order the Hubble scale during inflation. These particles cannot be integrated out and modeled by effective interactions of the inflaton, and consequently they would have striking signatures [143, 144, 148–150], providing an interesting probe of high-energy physics. These signatures are challenging to compute with traditional techniques, motivating the bootstrap approaches we discuss in the following. More generally, the EFT approach makes it possible to systematically study the space of possible non-Gaussian signatures beyond the simplest slow-roll models of inflation, and has motivated the search for the most symmetric of these shapes in data, which is now standard. We note that this development illustrates the fruitful collaboration between top-down and bottom-up ideas, as the former helped stimulate the more systematic EFT analysis [59, 151 - 153].

Interestingly, not all observable effects that are natural from the ultraviolet point of view can be captured by a standard EFT Lagrangian with local interactions of the light fields. As inflation occurs, the inflaton might travel a large distance in the field space, resulting in a significant change of the relevant interactions. One manifestation of this is the flattening effect discussed above [40]. Another is that additional fields may become light, or lighter, at some moment in time and then become heavy again. Such effects generically lead to some level of 'features' in the correlation functions of primordial fluctuations [16], often through resonant interactions [154]. In the string-theoretic models described above, features can have a particular pattern governed by the discrete shift symmetry of the inflaton [59]. One can incorporate such a symmetry in the EFT as in [151], although drifts in the oscillations are important to capture the string-theoretic phenomenology [155]. An important challenge is to understand how to approach apparent breakdowns of the effective description from the bottom up when they occur. A case of this sort described below in §3.5.2 has this character and exhibits sensitivity to produced particles with mass ~ 100H [156].

3.2 The cosmological bootstrap

One reason the inflationary period is so mysterious is that we have no direct observational access to this epoch. Instead, we infer the existence of a period of inflation by measuring correlations on its late-time boundary, where the universe reheats. This suggests a different approach to understanding the physics of inflation, where we directly construct boundary correlations, rather than following inflationary time evolution. This approach harmonizes with EFT approaches to cosmological correlations (e.g., [157, 158]), and leverages developments in the study of scattering amplitudes, the conformal bootstrap, and holography to import insights into the cosmological setting. Work in this area has mostly focused on the simplified setting where de Sitter symmetry is either exact, or weakly broken, at the level of the background, and gravitational fluctuations are treated only perturbatively. The high degree of symmetry allows for analytic control, but it is important to understand how to move beyond such simplifications. In the following we briefly review some recent progress and future directions.⁶

⁶For a more comprehensive discussion, see the Snowmass white paper on the Cosmological Bootstrap [159].

In perturbation theory, cosmological correlation functions, at least given the setup and simplifications noted above, are in large part controlled by their singularity structure [150, 160–167], which encodes the locality of bulk interactions. One can then approach the construction of cosmological correlation functions from a viewpoint that is spiritually similar to the flat space amplitudes program [168]. The challenge is to systematically extend correlators away from their singularities, which typically requires some additional input. One approach is to utilize de Sitter symmetry, which implies differential equations solved by cosmological correlators [150, 160, 163, 167, 169–171]. A complementary tack is to utilize constraints from the unitarity of bulk time evolution [172, 173], which can be systematized into perturbative cutting rules for the cosmological wavefunction, similar to flat space Cutkosky rules [174–178]. These relations take the schematic form

$$\psi_n(\{k_a\}) + \psi_n^*(\{-k_a\}) = -\sum_{\text{cuts}} \psi_n , \qquad (3.2)$$

where ψ_n is an *n*-point cosmological wavefunction coefficient, and $\{k_a\}$ stands for the set of magnitudes of momenta that the wavefunction depends on.⁷ In many cases of phenomenological interest involving massless particles, information about these cuts is sufficient to reconstruct wavefunction coefficients in a de Sitter background (but allowing interaction vertices to violate the symmetries, as in the EFT of inflation) [158, 178–182]. In cases involving massive particles, one must instead use the full differential equations that the correlators satisfy. Significant progress has been made in characterizing the possible signatures of these particles [148, 150, 163, 170, 183], though the signals are expected to be weak where the calculations are under control, so it is important to further develop these techniques.

A complementary approach that utilizes de Sitter symmetry in a more direct way is based on the spectral decomposition of cosmological correlators with respect to conformal partial waves [184, 185]. This representation highlights different analytic properties of the observables, and establishes a different condition following from unitarity of the cosmological evolution. For example, for the four-point function of identical fields, unitarity implies positivity of densities $\rho_J(\nu)$, which are defined as

$$\langle \phi(x_1)\phi(x_2)\phi(x_3)\phi(x_4)\rangle = \sum_J \int_0^\infty d\nu \rho_J(\nu)\mathcal{F}_{J,\Delta}\,,\tag{3.3}$$

where $\mathcal{F}_{J,\Delta}$ is the conformal partial wave of spin J and dimension $\Delta = d/2 + i\nu$. It is natural to expect that (3.2) and (3.3) are both manifestations of the same underlying unitarity of physics in de Sitter space, but their relation has not yet been fully understood. Making such a connection is an important direction for the future.

A useful practical tool for the calculation of correlators is the analytic continuation between in-in dS observables and Euclidean AdS boundary correlators in a theory with the doubled set of fields [183, 184, 186–188]. This continuation makes it possible to exploit many powerful AdS techniques for cosmology.

A goal for the future is to sharpen the connections to ultraviolet physics from the bottom-up EFT perspective. One facet of this connection manifests through dispersion relations obeyed by correlation functions, and it will be very interesting to elucidate the structure of such relations in the cosmological setting. This will require a more refined understanding of the analytic structure of correlators, and

⁷See [172] for the precise analytic continuation of $k_a \rightarrow -k_a$.

of the constraints of unitarity. It is also important to further develop nonperturbative techniques in the cosmological setting, in order to place sharp bounds on the space of inflationary models and their particle content, in a similar spirit to the conformal bootstrap in the AdS context. We expect that insights from ultraviolet completions will play a crucial role in these developments, leading to a fruitful interplay between UV and IR.

3.3 Initial conditions classically

Once inflation begins, it is extremely robust, but it is often stated that inflation has an 'initial conditions problem' and only begins if the universe is homogeneous and isotropic over several Hubble scales [189]. This problem is absent in models of chaotic inflation in which the inflationary period is described by general relativity coupled to a scalar field and begins with nearly-Planckian energy density or equivalent [190–192]. Observations of the CMB disfavor the simplest version of this solution, but certain modified models are still allowed [193]. In addition, in the context of a weakly coupled UV completion of general relativity, additional scales appear below the Planck scale, so the effective description in terms of general relativity coupled to a scalar field only becomes valid well below the Planck scale. As a consequence, both recent observations and theoretical considerations motivate a closer look at inflation's robustness to inhomogeneities.

To the extent that the potential energy density of the scalar field is well-modeled by a cosmological constant, de Sitter no-hair theorems carry over to inflation. These theorems come in two flavors, one for homogeneous cosmologies and one for inhomogeneous cosmologies. In the homogeneous case, the possible cosmologies are typically referred to according to the Bianchi classification for the algebra of their Killing vectors. Except for Bianchi IX, all homogeneous anisotropic cosmologies with positive cosmological constant asymptote to de Sitter space [194]. In the inhomogeneous case, provided the weak energy condition holds, it can be shown that global recollapse can only occur if the three-dimensional Ricci scalar is positive everywhere, which is topologically impossible for most 3-manifolds [195, 196]. Moreover, under the same assumptions it can be shown that there is always an open neighborhood that expands at least as fast as de Sitter space [196]. More recently, it has also become possible to show a stronger statement using mean curvature flow, namely that under additional assumptions the spacetime asymptotically becomes indistinguishable from de Sitter space on arbitrarily large regions of spacetime [197], and that this still holds if the cosmological constant is replaced by a scalar field with a potential, provided the latter is bounded both above and below by positive cosmological constants whose ratio is between unity and 3/2 [198].

In general, the field will explore regions of the potential that do not support inflation. Studies of this regime currently rely on numerical simulations of general relativity coupled to a single scalar field. This line of research has a long history and includes work in 1+1 dimensions [189, 199, 200] and 3+1 dimensions [201, 202]. The advent of modern numerical general relativity codes and more powerful computers has provided motivation to revisit this question. Importantly, it is now possible to follow the time evolution in a regime in which black hole formation plays a significant role [203, 204]. The new simulations have shown that inflation is more robust than previously thought and can begin even for classes of initial conditions for which the gradient energy density exceeds the potential energy density by orders of magnitude, both for plateau models [203] and for models of chaotic inflation in which the energy density is well below the Planck scale [204]. Additional classes of initial conditions and shapes of the potential have been considered [205–207], leaving the conclusions unchanged but

sharpening the picture. Models with convex potentials are found to be more robust to inhomogeneities than those with concave potentials, and concave potentials that vary on super-Planckian scales are significantly more robust than those that vary on sub-Planckian scales [206]. Notably, the classes of models that appear robust to large initial inhomogeneities are the classes of models that predict gravitational wave signals that are large enough to be detected with upcoming CMB experiments. Therefore, in the absence of a detection of primordial gravitational waves, additional dynamics (such as an additional scalar field that drives an earlier period of inflation, or a tunneling process) may be required to prepare initial conditions appropriate for inflation in the remaining class of models with sub-Planckian characteristic scales.

3.4 Initial conditions semiclassically

Above we reviewed the beginning of inflation from a large set of initial conditions at the classical level. Ultimately, one would like to develop a theory that is capable of explaining the initial conditions for the universe at the full quantum level. While this problem is notoriously hard, there exists an effective semiclassical approach that is conjectured to incorporate quantum gravity effects relevant in the early universe without using an explicit UV theory. The original proposal [208], now 40 years old, postulates that at the early time the metric should be analytically continued to become Euclidean and smooth, thus avoiding the curvature singularity that would be present if one evolves the universe back in time and stays in the Lorentzian signature.

This idea, referred to as the no-boundary proposal, has an important drawback in inflation. Interpreted in the most straightforward way, it predicts the probability for the initial value of the inflaton field, ϕ_0 , which goes as $p(\phi_0) \sim \exp 1/V(\phi_0)$, thus peaking exponentially at the bottom of the inflaton potential. Thus the no-boundary proposal predicts almost no inflation, in contrast with observations. There have been multiple proposals to fix this problem, while maintaining the spirit of the idea, including volume weighting [209], which changes the probability to $p(\phi_0) \sim \exp 1/V(\phi_0) + 3N_e$. In turn the tunneling initial state proposal (see [210, 211] for reviews) suggests that the probability is $p(\phi_0) \sim \exp -1/V(\phi_0)$, thus predicting the start of the classical inflationary regime at the top of the inflaton potential.

The recent revival of interest in the Euclidean Quantum Gravity (EQG) approach to cosmology is motivated by the success of related ideas in understanding some of the salient features of the black hole evaporation process [212]. In this case holography combined with the quantum information understanding of the boundary theory allows one to confirm the EQG calculations, which in certain cases include significant contributions from non-trivial topologies. These insights suggest that nontrivial topologies should also be incorporated in the cosmological no-boundary proposal. These include space-time connections between the bra and ket of the wave function of the universe [213], as well as the appearance of 'islands' in the calculation of entropy in various regions of the inflating universe: see e.g. [213–220].

So far, explicit computation of these new contributions to the gravitational path integral has been possible only in simplified models of cosmology, mostly in lower dimensions. Whether analogous effects are present in realistic models, and if they can be observable, remains an intriguing direction for future research. More generally, quantum gravity admits a multitude of states even in a closed system. Indeed, in the previous section we elucidated the robustness of inflation in the presence of strong initial fluctuations. The two dimensional quantum gravity theory on the closed string worldsheet is a clean example illustrating the multiplicity of states, with production of strings (two-dimensional universes) arising in generic target spacetimes. This can be considered with particular worldsheet models corresponding to D = 2 de Sitter and inflationary physics, as in [221]; this would be interesting to connect to the more recent developments in this section.

3.4.1 Spacetime singularities

The UV completion of gravity is required to understand spacetime singularities, including dynamical topology-changing processes. A zoo of timelike singularities and some spacelike singularities admit known string-theoretic resolutions, involving the condensation of wrapped branes or wound strings. Some are perturbative but stringy, while others are nonperturbative. In the cosmological context, an early review can be found in [222]. Related to the study of spacelike singularities is the additional question of alternatives to inflation such as bouncing or cyclic cosmologies, which are more difficult to control.

3.5 Nonperturbative physics of inflationary EFT

In this subsection, we highlight recent advances in understanding nonperturbative physics of inflationary observables and its interplay with UV physics. In these studies, one moves beyond low-point correlators in highly symmetric models in order to understand more general aspects of (3.1). Recent highlights include control of IR effects, non-adiabatic effects with signal/noise beyond low-point correlators, and more general contributions to the tails of the distribution.

3.5.1 Strong IR effects

Enhancement of IR effects for light fields has long been an intriguing issue in inflationary cosmology. In certain cases perturbation theory around the free-field vacuum breaks down at long distances and times, making it possible to question the stability of the corresponding theories [223]. An approach to deal with these IR effects has been known for a long time [224], but has not been developed systematically. For light scalars decoupled from gravity this was rectified in [225], and confirmed and extended using related but different techniques in [226–231]. The main conclusion is that strong IR effects are physical, can be controlled and calculated, and can lead to nonperturbative effects with observable consequences. One such method, called Soft dS Effective Theory [231], was recently applied to inflation, i.e. dynamical gravity was also incorporated. The conclusion of this paper is that strong IR effects can have interesting implications for eternal inflation and lead to a breakdown in the EFT of perturbations if significant (but observationally viable) non-Gaussianities are also present in the model.

3.5.2 Non-adiabatic effects

Inflation and its observational constraints are compatible with a wide range of interactions, including direct, non-derivative interactions of the inflaton with other degrees of freedom, generically leading to non-adiabatic effects [232, 233]. Such interactions arise generically in top-down settings [12] and may follow a regular [234] or random [235] pattern. Recent works [156, 236] established observational sensitivity to production of particles with masses always greater than the Hubble scale during inflation. (We already saw above in §2 at the level of the background model that massive degrees of freedom adjust in a way that is energetically favorable, affecting predictions for the tilt and tensor to scalar ratio even with masses much greater than the Hubble scale.) This example is notable for two reasons: (i) it goes beyond the naive EFT description, requiring inclusion of these massive degrees of freedom given the precision of modern data, and (ii) it exhibits greater signal/noise in higher *n*-point functions with n > 3, with the resummed optimal estimator for the simplest version of the signal derived in [236].

This raises the more general question of the information content of high-point scalar correlators and the tails of the primordial non-Gaussian probability distribution. We summarize recent developments in this area next.

3.5.3 Tails of the primordial non-Gaussianity

A key research direction is to derive the information content in (3.1) that is encoded beyond low-point correlation functions. Advances in this direction via analytic and numerical methods going back to [237] include calculable models with heavy tails at the multifield [238–240] and single-field [241] levels. One example with a very heavy tail explored in [238, 240] derives from the kinetic term for inflation on a multidimensional field space with hyperbolic geometry, a possibility with theoretical underpinnings [242, 243]. This model involves an interaction of the form $\dot{\phi}^2 \exp(\chi/M_*)$: expanding this coupling around the background homogeneous $\dot{\phi}$ evolution yields a term in the Hamiltonian proportional to the field momentum for ϕ , which generates a translation in its field space, leading to an explicit nonperturbative expression for the non-Gaussian pdf with a heavy tail $\propto \exp\left\{-(\log(\delta\phi^2))^2 M_*^2/H^2\right\}$. Another class of examples concerns propagation of the inflaton on a landscape with saddle points, leading to strong effects of the temporarily tachyonic transverse scalars. Simulations yield interesting phenomenology in ongoing work on this case [244] (see also [245]).

In general, these examples motivate a more systematic study of the full pdf and its optimal estimation in data. This is a compelling theoretical challenge on two fronts, involving analysis of the nonperturbative early universe quantum field theory as well as analysis of LSS, perhaps itself requiring a nonperturbative treatment. In the examples covered in [236], a position space description of the primordial signal is natural, and this may combine with the need to measure high-point correlators and/or to work at the map level for the foreground in any case [246].

4 Cosmological holography

Cosmology ultimately demands both a UV and an IR completion, with quantum gravity operating in both regimes. In particular, the global spacetime(s) of interest that contain long-lived regions of metastable de Sitter do not fully decouple from gravity at finite times, as a result of their finite size. The metastability — a property most clearly derived via string theory [27, 247] — does enable asymptotic decoupling of gravity and the development of infinite horizon entropy [57, 248]. Even in the long-lived de Sitter phase, in addition to the EQG developments summarized above, various tools such as solvable deformations that enable construction of emergent patches of spacetime, as well as other developments in low-dimensional gravity and matrix models, have led to significant recent progress in this area.

In this section, we summarize this renewed traction on these old problems, which opens many novel research directions. A nice review of early developments in this area can be found in [249]; see also [11] for some intermediate developments. Pre-existing approaches include dS/CFT [250, 251], dS/dS [52, 252] and FRW/FRW [57], FRW/CFT [253] and various types of matrix models [254, 255] (see also [256–258] for more recent discussions), as well as discussions of embedding dS (or a different FRW solution) in AdS/CFT [259, 260] and uplifting AdS/CFT to cosmology via explicit gravity-side ingredients [33, 52].

Gibbons and Hawking suggested an entropic interpretation of the de Sitter horizon area [261]. This classical entropy $S_{GH} = \text{Area}/4G_N$ has been generalized to higher loop order in [262]. Together these results suggest that as with black holes, there is a large set of microstates for which the cosmic horizon represents a coarse-grained description.

In the black hole case, the corresponding microstates lie in a small band of energy levels with small level spacings of order $\exp(-S)$. For a three-dimensional bulk, modular bootstrap methods enable direct analysis of this band of energies on the dual two-dimensional side of the correspondence [263, 264], showing that the Cardy formula for their entropy — which matches the Area/4G_N prediction — extends down to the Hawking-Page transition.

In black hole physics, the count of microstates of BPS black holes [265] from brane degrees of freedom was enabled by extended supersymmetry. Recently a new type of controllable deformation enabling the tracking of energy levels and state counts has emerged [20, 266–272], and is based on integrability ideas rather than supersymmetry. These integrable deformations — of in general *non-integrable* 'seed' theories — address the leading count of states for the cosmic (de Sitter) horizon in appropriate examples [273, 274].

In this vein, [273, 274] derives the dS₃ geometry and the Gibbons-Hawking entropy — including a 1loop correction in [262] — from a solvable deformation of a CFT [271, 272] with a sparse light spectrum. The seed CFT counts the $\Delta = c/6 + \mathcal{O}(1)$ BTZ entropy as in [263, 264], and this state count continues to hold in the $T\bar{T}$ deformed theory, whose gravity-side description consists of a bounded patch of the corresponding BTZ black hole geometry [269]. Deforming this seed CFT on a cylinder of circumference L as $\partial_{\lambda} \log(Z) \sim \int T\bar{T}$ until $y = \lambda/L^2$ reaches $3/c\pi^2$, and then by $\partial_{\lambda} \log(Z) \sim \int T\bar{T} - 2/\lambda^2$ to a final value y, yields a dressed energy formula for the $\Delta = c/6 + \mathcal{O}(1)$ states matching precisely the Brown-York energy of the cosmic horizon region of the observer patch, bounded by a cylinder of size $L = \sqrt{\lambda/y}$. At the same time, the count of states matches the Gibbons-Hawking entropy, including the logarithmic correction computed in [262].

In more detail, the $T\bar{T} + \Lambda_2$ deformation for a theory on a cylinder of size L [271–273] yields a differential equation for the dimensionless energies $\mathcal{E} = EL$

$$\pi y \mathcal{E}(y) \mathcal{E}'(y) - \mathcal{E}'(y) + \frac{\pi}{2} \mathcal{E}(y)^2 = \frac{1-\eta}{2\pi y^2} + 2\pi^3 J^2 \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where $\eta = 1$ for the pure $T\bar{T}$ part of the trajectory and $\eta = -1$ for the $T\bar{T} + \Lambda_2$ part. This has general solution

$$\mathcal{E}(y) = \frac{1}{\pi y} \left(1 \pm \sqrt{\eta - 4C_1 y + 4\pi^4 J^2 y^2} \right), \qquad (4.2)$$

whose branch and constants are determined by the boundary conditions along the piecewise trajectories in a given definition of the deformed theory. In the example just summarized, the matching between the $\eta = 1$ and $\eta = -1$ parts of the trajectory occurs when the square root vanishes. Holographically, the boundary of the patch of (A)dS₃ skirts the horizon of a BTZ $\Delta \simeq c/6$ black hole in the AdS case, and the cosmic horizon in the dS case; such near-horizon regions are indistinguishable and the deformed energy formulas match since η appears inside the (here vanishing) square root.⁸ These energy levels dominate the real spectrum of the deformed theory, and their count of states $S \sim A/4G_N - 3\log(A/4G_N)$ remains constant through the entire integrable deformation [273]. The bounded patch thus formulated may be viewed as a complete system (dS conditioned on the presence of the boundary, perhaps viewed analogously to conditioning on the existence of an observer) or as a building block for the global system [273].

The deformed theory is a specific matrix theory that precisely captures the pure-gravity features — the geometry, Brown-York energy and entropy — that dominate at $c \gg 1$, but does not capture the model-dependent details of local bulk physics, as stressed in the AdS case in [270]. The naturally light bulk degrees of freedom are related to gauge fields and may require incorporating other currents into the deformation (see e.g. [275] for a review.)

This set of results consolidates progress on many fronts by a wide variety of researchers, as is often the case for new dualities — in this case ranging from integrability theory to quantum gravity. They raise numerous directions for future work, not least the generalization to bulk dS_4 , perhaps leveraging dimension-independent simplifications of the holographic RG [276].

Let us comment briefly on the relation to other approaches. The static patch Hamiltonian is the modular Hamiltonian of the dS/dS patch, where the entropy just computed corresponds to an entanglement entropy between the two sectors, confirming the interpretation proposed in [277]. Many works stressed the role of matrix models, e.g. [254–256, 258], with the deformed theory providing an explicit class of examples. Calculable recent models with interesting properties include [278, 279]. The particular matrix theory obtained by the integrable deformations is fully nonlinear in the original seed CFT variables, suggesting connections to complexity [258], which is conjecturally related to

 $^{^{8}}$ In a complete top-down model, such as uplifts of AdS to dS [33, 52], the internal dimensions change. This fits with the indistinguishability of the systems when the boundary in the external dimensions skirts the horizon. For example, in a canonical ensemble the high temperature near the horizon enables the system to explore all internal configurations consistent with the horizon, including both types of internal compactifications related by internal topology-changing processes.

reconstruction of the region behind the horizon. Another approach going back to [280] is to embed cosmological physics in AdS/CFT [259, 260, 281]. In that case, the theory is UV complete although there are uncertainties in the dictionary extracting the cosmology from the dual theory. Related works have used probes of microscopic physics such as quantum chaos, which has been fruitful in the context of AdS/CFT, to constrain the holographic dual to de Sitter space [282–284].

Last but not least, a connection between AdS/CFT and de Sitter quantum gravity arises from string-theoretic de Sitter models obtained by explicit uplifts of AdS/CFT systems [33, 52]. As a start, to connect this relationship to the $T\bar{T}+\Lambda_2$ (or more general $T^2+\Lambda_d$ [285]) approach, one can determine the conditions for a patch boundary in string/M-theory by generalizing the Hořava-Witten analysis of [286] and determining the implications of the considerations of [287, 288]. This approach aims at a top-down realization of the interpolation between a radially cut-off AdS black hole and the bounded cosmic horizon patch of de Sitter space. Recall from above that the T^2 and $T^2 + \Lambda_d$ trajectories match as the wall approaches the horizon, where in the external dimensions one cannot tell the difference geometrically between the near-horizon region of a black hole and the de Sitter cosmic horizon of the same radius, and the dressed energy formula is continuous along the combined deformation. In a UV complete model the internal dimensions are drastically different, e.g. being a sphere or hyperbolic space for anti-de Sitter or de Sitter, respectively. But for the bounding wall skirting the horizon, the diverging temperature forces the full system to sample internal configurations consistent with the horizon geometry. In that sense, one cannot tell the difference between the two, even including the details of the UV completion at the matching point, so the deformation extends naturally to the full theory. This interpretation relies on the top-down consistency of the bounded domain and the existence of topology-changing processes analogous to those in [53], both features amenable to further study.9

In addition to the 'local' approach to cosmological holography, centered around an observer internal to the cosmological space, there is also the 'global' approach, in which the holographic theory is formulated on the future spacelike boundary of a de Sitter or inflationary spacetime, and bulk time evolution is a fully emergent phenomenon. As was emphasized in [289], a crucial step in this approach is to go from the wavefunction of the universe, which can be described by a holographic CFT via dS/CFT, to the correlation functions. Since this step involves a path integral over boundary metrics, it requires the use of tools that go beyond the usual holography. Recent progress in this direction includes, in particular, the study of higher-spin theories in dS, dual to the free O(N) model on the boundary [290]. Recent developments in this interesting direction include [291]. Moreover, Euclidean calculations starting from global low-dimensional de Sitter such as [262, 292] yield formulas expressible as a sum over microstate contributions. These in turn may connect to lower-dimensional versions of the $T\bar{T} + \Lambda$ deformation generalizing [281] as in [273] to yield a Lorentzian microstate count as reviewed for the bulk three-dimensional case above. Indeed, interesting works in this direction continue to emerge (e.g. [293]).

⁹Investigations of this question by some of the authors of [273] and [33] are in progress.

5 Observational tests

5.1 Tests of inflation

Many of the recent developments we have highlighted will be tested through cosmological observations. Most prominently, over the next decade precision measurements of the cosmic microwave background polarization both from the ground [13] and from space [19] will begin to cross critical thresholds in the search for primordial gravitational waves. These measurements will, for example, conclusively test the class of models of axion inflation whose potentials are flattened by backreaction relative to a quadratic potential. In this class of models the potential during the inflationary period is well-approximated by a monomial $V(\phi) \approx \mu^{4-2p} \phi^{2p}$, which predicts a spectral index and tensor-to-scalar ratio given by

$$n_{\rm s} = -\frac{p+1}{N_{\star}}$$
 and $r = \frac{8p}{N_{\star}}$, (5.1)

where N_{\star} measures the number of e-folds (counted from the end of inflation) at which the pivot scale exits the horizon. The numerical value of N_{\star} depends on the model, the (unknown) physics of reheating, and the choice of pivot scale. If reheating is highly efficient, a typical value is $N_{\star} \approx 60$. If reheating is delayed, N_{\star} takes a lower value, with the range often take to be $N_{\star} \approx 50 - 60$, although lower values are possible. For plausible values of p, the models predict r > 0.01. At face value this class of models already appears nearly excluded at the single-field level [294], but it should be kept in mind that this conclusion is predominantly based on constraints on the scalar spectral index $n_{\rm s}$, and the theoretical prediction may be modified by the presence of additional degrees of freedom [60], or may have to be reinterpreted [61, 62]. We note that as discussed above in §2, since axions arise from the rich topology of the internal dimensions of string theory — topology that plays an important role in facilitating the near-cancellation of the cosmological constant [42] — the multifield case is a reasonable expectation and is important to test.

More generally, the threshold around $r \simeq 0.01$ is of interest because the distance traversed by the inflaton during the inflationary period is bounded by the tensor-to-scalar ratio [295]

$$\frac{\Delta\phi}{M_{\rm pl}} \gtrsim \left(\frac{r}{8}\right)^{1/2} N_{\star} \gtrsim \left(\frac{r}{0.01}\right)^{1/2} \,,\tag{5.2}$$

where we have used a conservative lower limit $N_{\star} \gtrsim 30$ for the last inequality. So a detection at or above this threshold implies a super-Planckian excursion in field space. In any model of inflation in a UV complete description of gravity, like string theory, there are states at sub-Planckian energies that interact with the inflaton and lead to structure in the inflaton potential on sub-Planckian scales, unless these interactions are forbidden by symmetries. So in the context of single-field models a detection of primordial gravitational waves with $r \gtrsim 0.01$ would provide strong support for the existence of an effective shift symmetry that protects the inflaton potential.

The absence of a detection of primordial gravitational waves with a tensor-to-scalar ratio at or above $r \simeq 0.01$ does not imply that the inflaton traveled a sub-Planckian distance. However, over the next decade CMB polarization measurements will cross another critical threshold around $r \simeq 0.001$ that provides related information about the structure of the inflationary potential rather than the field displacement. The monomial models naturally explain the observed spectral index in the sense that the functional form of the spectral index is $n_s(N) = -(p+1)/N$. There is a second class of single-field models for which this is the case: hilltop and plateau models. To give concrete examples, this class contains Starobinsky's R^2 inflation [2], models in which the Higgs boson is the inflaton [296, 297], fibre inflation [298], α -attractors [299–301], and Poincaré disk models [302, 303]. A key quantity in these models is the scale in field space over which the potential departs from its value on the hilltop or plateau: this is known as the characteristic scale [13]. The absence of a detection at the threshold around $r \simeq 0.001$ would exclude all models in this class with a characteristic scale that exceeds the Planck scale.

In addition, the same CMB experiments will provide improved constraints on the statistical properties of the primordial density perturbations. Constraints on the spectral index of density perturbations, its running, and on the amplitudes of the traditional shapes of bispectra denoted by f_{NL} will improve by a factor of two to three, significantly reducing the traditional model space. Threedimensional surveys, most notably of LSS, at face value allow access to significantly more Fourier modes. However, extracting information about the primordial universe and in particular about departures from Gaussianity has proven challenging because clustering of matter is itself nonlinear, because surveys observe the galaxy distribution rather than the matter field, because observations take place in redshift space, and so on. Nonetheless, recent theoretical developments on an effective field theory of large scale structure (EFTofLSS) have matured enough for a first proof of principle constraint on primordial non-Gaussianity [63, 304] from BOSS DR 12 data [305]. As these tools further mature and data from larger surveys become available, constraints from LSS surveys should become competitive with those from CMB observations, and ultimately improve on them. For additional discussion of observational constraints on inflation both in a broader context and from a bottom-up perspective see [306] and [307], respectively.

The string-inspired effects we have described have already motivated [10, 12] and continue to motivate additional analyses to make full use of the data, for example searches for imprints of non-adiabatic effects such as the production of particles or strings during inflation [156], and more generally observables beyond low order *n*-point functions to fully characterize departures from a Gaussian probability distribution. The combined challenge of characterizing such effects theoretically and testing them in LSS provides a key goal for theoretical cosmology research in the near and medium term.

A number of other important empirical constraints affect theoretical cosmology, ranging from bounds on axion masses, as discussed in the next subsection, to constraints on low-energy supersymmetry. Prospects for additional types of tests that could be important, such as new ideas for cosmological gravitational wave sources and reheating effects [308] deserve continued study.

5.2 Limits on axions

As explained in §2, the effective field theories descending from string theory that are relevant for modeling cosmology almost universally feature axion fields. In the absence of certain fluxes that induce axion masses, such fields enjoy all-orders shift symmetries, and acquire mass only nonperturbatively. For this reason, many classes of constructions contain ultralight axions. The number of axion fields is determined by the topology of the internal space, and the rich topologies found in contemporary constructions often give rise to large numbers of axions: hundreds, in the case of Calabi-Yau threefolds. These findings led to the notion of the *string axiverse* [25], which is the idea that the low-energy effective theories resulting from quantum gravity will contain many axions distributed over a wide range of mass scales.

Experimental and observational searches for axions are proliferating. Even if no evidence for axions is found, these experiments will in time place limits over a wide parameter range. With sufficient effort on the theory side, near-future advances in axion experiment may serve to discriminate empirically among qualitatively different classes of string vacua, and to exclude a range of constructions. In this connection, we stress an important difference between the scenarios reviewed in §2.2 compared to those in §2.3. In the vacua of §2.2, perturbative effects with characteristically polynomial dependence on the canonically-normalized fields control the vacuum structure, and four-dimensional supersymmetry plays no role. The generic choices of fluxes and branes invoked in this context typically induce a potential for axions, via monodromy. As a consequence, even though *axions* are abundant in this setting, ultralight axions need not be.

In contrast, in the vacua of §2.3, which involve Calabi-Yau compactifications with moduli stabilized by perturbative and nonperturbative effects, the imprint of supersymmetry is strong, and the leading potential energy terms for some classes of axions result from instanton contributions to the superpotential. Moreover, characteristic trends in the sizes of cycles in Calabi-Yau manifolds with many moduli cause the typical instanton actions to be large whenever the α' expansion is under control [116], and in this sense ultralight axions — with masses $m \ll 10^{-33} \text{ eV}$ — are generic in the Calabi-Yau compactifications of §2.3, though not necessarily in string theory as a whole.

To capitalize on the connection to axion experiment, a first step is to construct ensembles of manyaxion effective theories resulting from string compactifications — such theories are termed axiverses — in enough detail so that the theory unknowns do not wash out potential signatures. In the case of nonperturbatively-stabilized Calabi-Yau compactifications, considerable effort has gone into constructing axiverses and exploring their phenomenology. Early works include [309, 310], while advances in computation (e.g., [77]) have allowed the enumeration of large ensembles of axiverses in Calabi-Yau compactifications [116] (more recent statistical analyses include [311]). A general framework for analyzing the resulting axion landscapes, and a description of their phenomenology, appears in [312].

Evidence for or against an axiverse may come through gravitational wave signals [313], a multitude of cosmic strings [314, 315], or the evaporation of primordial black holes [316]. Future constraints on axion dark matter should probe some of the parameter space of string-theoretic models, and theories with ultralight axions, including Calabi-Yau compactifications, may provide candidates [317] for fuzzy dark matter [318]. Nonlinear dynamics of multi-axion dark matter [319] could allow detection of a small sub-component.

Direct couplings of axions to the visible sector are tested by a range of astrophysical observations and terrestrial experiments. In some parameter ranges, constraints from gamma ray and X-ray astronomy, such as [320], are stronger than the limits obtained from laboratory tests of couplings to the electron [321]. Moreover, helioscope limits already constrain a subset of models with many ultralight axions [322]. An imprint of axions in cosmic birefringence is another intriguing possibility [323].

The original motivation for introducing axions in quantum field theory was the strong CP problem. The Peccei-Quinn mechanism [21, 22] is sensitive to Planck-scale physics [324–326], so a complete solution requires information from quantum gravity. The fact that inflation depends on Planck-scale physics has been a key motivation for understanding inflation in string theory (see e.g. [10]), and for expecting that probes of inflation could teach us about string theory. In just the same way, the strong CP problem calls out for treatment in string theory. In the Calabi-Yau orientifold compactifications of [116], the leading quantum-gravity contributions to the neutron electric dipole moment are due to Euclidean D3-branes, and can be computed explicitly [327]. When the number of axions is ≥ 20 , the rich topology of the internal space leads to large cycle sizes, and the Euclidean D3-brane corrections to the neutron electric dipole moment become negligibly small, restoring the Peccei-Quinn solution of the strong CP problem [327]. This axiverse incarnation of the Peccei-Quinn mechanism can be probed through limits on axion dark matter and on axion emission in stars.

A particularly promising test of the axiverse picture comes from black hole superradiance. Near a Kerr black hole, there is an instability to production of axions in a certain mass range, which can gradually spin down the black hole. This process can occur in the vacuum, and because it does not require axions to be present as a cosmological population, the resulting limits are insensitive to assumptions about cosmic history. Equipped with the distribution of axion masses in axiverses arising in Calabi-Yau compactifications, one can use the measured spins of astrophysical black holes to place limits on these solutions [328], excluding some regions of moduli space and some ranges of topological parameters.

A comprehensive review of axion phenomenology is beyond the scope of this white paper, and we have highlighted only a few of the more recent connections to string theory. Further context can be found in the review [329] and the white paper [330].

6 Connections to other areas

In this final section we describe several connections between the theory frontier in cosmology and other areas of inquiry.

6.1 Mathematics

There are many links between mathematics and inflationary physics. In §3.3 we highlighted the mathematical proofs of the robustness of inflation. It is also notable that only in the de Sitter case has a full proof of stability of the Kerr black hole been achieved [331]. Integrability-based methods in mathematical physics such as the exact solvability of certain deformations of quantum field theories extend readily to the case with positive cosmological constant, as detailed above in §4.

Compactification geometry and topology, as described in §2, is another major area of intersection. Methods include group theory, differential geometry, algebraic geometry, and topology, depending on the setting. Hyperbolic manifolds and more general negatively curved spaces are well-studied mathematically. As stressed earlier, they are also well-motivated physically given their positive contribution to the potential, and their rigidity [37]; the latter combined with warp factor dynamics [26] contributes a strong positive Hessian for metric deformations. In particular, such manifolds do not have moduli in the mathematical sense, analogously to the absence of exactly flat directions in most quantum field theories. Powerful methods exist to analyze them [332] with the help of simple examples [64]. Another timely theme concerns systolic geometry [65, 66], relating the length of the minimal closed geodesic to the overall size of the manifold. This UV-IR effect has interesting physical implications [33]. The infinite sequences of hyperbolic spaces contrasts with the conjecturally finite list of Calabi-Yau threefolds, and enables parametric tunings of control parameters [33, 49]. These spaces participate in string dualities and connect to other parts of the landscape [45, 53, 333] in ways tied to their rich topology (e.g. the exponential growth of their fundamental group). Their generality, positivity, and rigidity fits with current empirical constraints on particle physics and cosmology, motivating additional study. In the case of Calabi-Yau compactifications, a recent highlight is the analytic derivation of K3 metrics [334]. At the same time, constructions of cosmological vacua based on Calabi-Yau compactifications have required advances in computational algebraic geometry [77]. The resulting tools have revealed new structures in the geometry and topology of the underlying manifolds.

6.2 Machine learning

The enormity of the string landscape makes exhaustive searches or random sampling impractical. Even restricting to presently-known classes of Calabi-Yau threefolds, the number of distinct vacuum geometries may be as large as 10^{428} [335], while counting choices of fluxes in Calabi-Yau compactifications gives as many as 10^{500} [336, 337] to $10^{272,000}$ [338] flux vacua. As noted above, other types of compactifications come in infinite sequences of topologies and dimensionalities at bounded Kaluza-Klein scale. The vastness of the landscape is exacerbated by computational complexity. Finding specific string vacua appears to be NP-hard in many cases [339–341], though this measure of complexity is based on brute force search, which can be vastly outperformed by optimization algorithms [342].¹⁰

Only a minute subset of the configurations mentioned above are expected to be phenomenologically viable. In search of realistic vacua, additional criteria are necessarily imposed — either to set phenomenological properties, such as the observed vacuum energy and particle spectrum, or to ensure theoretical control, for example with small couplings and large volumes. These additional criteria put further structure on the landscape, with the optimization target being solutions of some constrained systems of equations. The highly ordered structure of the landscape together with the discreteness of the UV inputs (e.g., fluxes and topology of the compactification) leads to a rich topological structure of voids and voxels in the landscape [343].

Given the scope and nature of the problem, it is natural to leverage advances in machine learning to design efficient optimization methods to search for realistic vacua that may at the same time reveal hidden structure in the landscape. The question of interest is not only the construction of realistic vacua but also the statistical distribution surrounding such vacua, which has implications for various dynamics-based proposals for the measure problem [340, 342, 344]. In recent years, stochastic optimization with Genetic Algorithms (GAs) [87, 112, 345–349] and Reinforcement Learning (RL) [350–353] have been utilized to search for viable string vacua, outperforming searches based on Metropolis-Hastings. A first comparison between GAs and RL in a string theory context [354] showed that both broad approaches are effective in searching for optimal vacua and discovering structures of the landscape, but in complementary ways. In general, one may work from the formalism (2.2) [26] to explore the effective potential, or descend in its functional derivatives related to slow roll parameters, starting

¹⁰Limitations from computational complexity can also be evaded in constructions such as [35, 88], where the computational cost of enumerating vacua indeed appears to be exponential in a dimension-counting parameter N (corresponding in [35, 88] to the Hodge number $h^{2,1}$ of a Calabi-Yau threefold), but viable solutions already appear at N = 2.

from a particular topology and fiducial geometry along with calculable stress-energy sources such as Casimir energy, brane tensions and the like.

More broadly, a main goal of cosmology is to reconstruct the initial inhomogeneities of the universe from current observations. Primordial non-Gaussianity provides valuable probes of the interactions [153, 355-357] and particle content [143, 145, 148-150] during inflation, which can help break the degeneracy of models. Unfortunately, the physical evolution from the primordial matter distribution to the observations today is extremely complicated and non-linear. Different theories of the early universe predict tiny non-Gaussian features in the primordial matter distribution, which underwent 13.8 billion years of astrophysical evolution. Upcoming experiments will result in massive new datasets, but it is not known whether they can be modeled precisely enough to probe these non-Gaussianities. Machine learning (ML), with its ability to model highly non-linear phenomena, could be the crucial missing ingredient to make this possible. Topological data analysis (TDA) is an ML and statistical method for summarizing the shape of data. TDA extracts non-local information of position-space maps, which can distinguish primordial non-Gaussianity from the non-linearities of gravity [358, 359]. More generally, it was argued in [246] that a map-level analysis may significantly improve the constraining power over previous forecasts. Thus, ML approaches such as simulation-based inference involving the forward modeling of large-scale structure maps [360-369] may have the potential to dramatically impact the search for primordial non-Gaussianity.

ML also finds applications in computing Calabi-Yau metrics numerically [370–372] and more generally in solving partial differential equations [373] arising in string compactifications. While many quantities of interest in Calabi-Yau compactifications can be computed without explicit knowledge of the internal metrics, thanks to Yau's theorem, this is not the case for the general compactifications outlined in §2.2. Moreover, even for Calabi-Yau compactifications, non-holomorphic quantities — including the inflation potential and the kinetic terms of fields — are not amenable to algebraic geometry methods. For example, computation of inflation potentials in D-brane inflation so far utilizes local Calabi-Yau metrics [374] and parametrizes models in terms of boundary conditions compatible with these metrics' approximate isometries [118, 375, 376]. Further advances in ML techniques for computing compact Calabi-Yau metrics may allow us to determine the boundary conditions and quantify the breaking of local isometries, as in [377]. Such advances are also needed for addressing metricdependent questions in D-brane inflation, such as the process of reheating [378–380]. In the case of the negatively curved compactifications discussed in §2.2, the fiducial (hyperbolic) metric is known, in contrast to the case of Calabi-Yau manifolds. There it is interesting to move on to numerically analyze the internal PDEs for the warp and conformal factors using a neural network as a function ansatz, as was done as a proof of principle in a hyperbolic polygon in [33] (though analytic and simpler numeric methods sufficed so far). Aside from classical PDEs, interesting connections between quantum fields and neural networks are under active development (see e.g. [381, 382]).

Finally, we may turn this connection around and apply ideas from cosmology to design algorithms for machine learning and other numerical methods. This approach is related to a very active general program of research applying physics methods to improve and better understand the process, see e.g. [383]. A new class of optimizers under development [373] was inspired by the field-dependent speed limit in [153]; identifying the squared speed limit with the loss function and working in the non-gravitational, energy-conserving limit yields a frictionless dynamics that nonetheless slows the evolution near vanishing loss. The energy conservation in this and many similar examples yields some favorable properties and calculable predictions for the performance, with large phase space measure near the desired regime of small loss. A future direction is to flesh out this and other cosmology-based ideas in large-scale numerical problems.

Acknowledgements

The work of R.F. was supported in part by the Department of Energy under Grant No. DE-SC0009919, the Simons Foundation/SFARI 560536, and by NASA under Grant No. 80NSSC18K1487 and 80NSSC18K0561. The work of L.M. was supported in part by National Science Foundation grant PHY-1719877. The work of G.S. was supported in part by Department of Energy grant DE-SC0017647. The work of E.S. was supported in part by a Simons Investigator award and National Science Foundation grant PHY-1720397.

References

- A.H. Guth, The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 347.
- [2] A.A. Starobinsky, A New Type of Isotropic Cosmological Models Without Singularity, Phys. Lett. B 91 (1980) 99.
- [3] A.D. Linde, A New Inflationary Universe Scenario: A Possible Solution of the Horizon, Flatness, Homogeneity, Isotropy and Primordial Monopole Problems, Phys. Lett. B 108 (1982) 389.
- [4] A. Albrecht and P.J. Steinhardt, Cosmology for Grand Unified Theories with Radiatively Induced Symmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1220.
- [5] V.F. Mukhanov and G.V. Chibisov, Quantum Fluctuations and a Nonsingular Universe, JETP Lett. 33 (1981) 532.
- [6] J.R. Bond and G. Efstathiou, The statistics of cosmic background radiation fluctuations, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 226 (1987) 655.
- [7] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A6 [1807.06209]. [Erratum: Astron.Astrophys. 652, C4 (2021)].
- [8] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. V. CMB power spectra and likelihoods, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A5 [1907.12875].
- [9] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde, J.M. Maldacena, L.P. McAllister and S.P. Trivedi, Towards inflation in string theory, JCAP 10 (2003) 013 [hep-th/0308055].
- [10] D. Baumann and L. McAllister, *Inflation and String Theory*, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press (5, 2015), 10.1017/CBO9781316105733, [1404.2601].
- [11] E. Silverstein, TASI lectures on cosmological observables and string theory, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings, pp. 545–606, 2017, DOI [1606.03640].
- [12] E. Silverstein, The dangerous irrelevance of string theory, 1706.02790.
- [13] CMB-S4 collaboration, CMB-S4 Science Book, First Edition, 1610.02743.

- [14] S. Shandera et al., Probing the origin of our Universe through cosmic microwave background constraints on gravitational waves, Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 (2019) 338 [1903.04700].
- [15] P.D. Meerburg et al., Primordial Non-Gaussianity, 1903.04409.
- [16] A. Slosar et al., Scratches from the Past: Inflationary Archaeology through Features in the Power Spectrum of Primordial Fluctuations, Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 (2019) 98 [1903.09883].
- [17] K. Abazajian et al., CMB-S4 Science Case, Reference Design, and Project Plan, 1907.04473.
- [18] NASA PICO collaboration, PICO: Probe of Inflation and Cosmic Origins, 1902.10541.
- [19] LITEBIRD collaboration, Probing Cosmic Inflation with the LiteBIRD Cosmic Microwave Background Polarization Survey, 2202.02773.
- [20] A.B. Zamolodchikov, Expectation value of composite field T anti-T in two-dimensional quantum field theory, hep-th/0401146.
- [21] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440.
- [22] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, Constraints Imposed by CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 1791.
- [23] F. Wilczek, Problem of Strong P and T Invariance in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 279.
- [24] T. Banks, M. Dine, P.J. Fox and E. Gorbatov, On the possibility of large axion decay constants, JCAP 06 (2003) 001 [hep-th/0303252].
- [25] A. Arvanitaki, S. Dimopoulos, S. Dubovsky, N. Kaloper and J. March-Russell, String Axiverse, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 123530 [0905.4720].
- [26] M.R. Douglas, Effective potential and warp factor dynamics, JHEP 03 (2010) 071 [0911.3378].
- [27] M. Dine and N. Seiberg, Couplings and Scales in Superstring Models, Phys. Rev. Lett. 55 (1985) 366.
- [28] E. Silverstein, (A)dS backgrounds from asymmetric orientifolds, Clay Mat. Proc. 1 (2002) 179 [hep-th/0106209].
- [29] R.C. Myers, New Dimensions for Old Strings, Phys. Lett. B 199 (1987) 371.
- [30] S.P. de Alwis, J. Polchinski and R. Schimmrigk, *Heterotic Strings With Tree Level Cosmological Constant*, Phys. Lett. B 218 (1989) 449.
- [31] A. Maloney, E. Silverstein and A. Strominger, De Sitter space in noncritical string theory, in Workshop on Conference on the Future of Theoretical Physics and Cosmology in Honor of Stephen Hawking's 60th Birthday, pp. 570–591, 5, 2002 [hep-th/0205316].
- [32] J.J. Friess and S.S. Gubser, Non-linear sigma models with anti-de Sitter target spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 750 (2006) 111 [hep-th/0512355].
- [33] G.B. De Luca, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, *Hyperbolic compactification of M-theory and de Sitter quantum gravity*, 2104.13380.
- [34] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde and S.P. Trivedi, De Sitter vacua in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 046005 [hep-th/0301240].
- [35] M. Demirtas, M. Kim, L. McAllister, J. Moritz and A. Rios-Tascon, Small cosmological constants in string theory, JHEP 12 (2021) 136 [2107.09064].
- [36] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press (12, 2007), 10.1017/CBO9780511618123.

- [37] A.L. Besse, *Einstein Manifolds*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York (1987).
- [38] S.B. Giddings, S. Kachru and J. Polchinski, *Hierarchies from fluxes in string compactifications*, *Phys. Rev. D* 66 (2002) 106006 [hep-th/0105097].
- [39] V. Balasubramanian, P. Berglund, J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Systematics of moduli stabilisation in Calabi-Yau flux compactifications, JHEP 03 (2005) 007 [hep-th/0502058].
- [40] X. Dong, B. Horn, E. Silverstein and A. Westphal, Simple exercises to flatten your potential, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 026011 [1011.4521].
- [41] L. McAllister, E. Silverstein, A. Westphal and T. Wrase, The Powers of Monodromy, JHEP 09 (2014) 123 [1405.3652].
- [42] R. Bousso and J. Polchinski, Quantization of four form fluxes and dynamical neutralization of the cosmological constant, JHEP 06 (2000) 006 [hep-th/0004134].
- [43] H. Wang, unpublished notes, 2013.
- [44] S. Hellerman and I. Swanson, Dimension-changing exact solutions of string theory, JHEP 09 (2007) 096 [hep-th/0612051].
- [45] J. McGreevy, E. Silverstein and D. Starr, New dimensions for wound strings: The Modular transformation of geometry to topology, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 044025 [hep-th/0612121].
- [46] E. Silverstein, Simple de Sitter Solutions, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 106006 [0712.1196].
- [47] G. Gur-Ari, Brane Inflation and Moduli Stabilization on Twisted Tori, JHEP 01 (2014) 179 [1310.6787].
- [48] C. Córdova, G.B. De Luca and A. Tomasiello, New de Sitter Solutions in Ten Dimensions and Orientifold Singularities, JHEP 08 (2020) 093 [1911.04498].
- [49] A. Saltman and E. Silverstein, A New handle on de Sitter compactifications, JHEP 01 (2006) 139 [hep-th/0411271].
- [50] N. Kaloper, J. March-Russell, G.D. Starkman and M. Trodden, Compact hyperbolic extra dimensions: Branes, Kaluza-Klein modes and cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 928 [hep-ph/0002001].
- [51] M.T. Anderson, Dehn filling and Einstein metrics in higher dimensions, J. Diff. Geom. 73 (2006) 219 [math/0303260].
- [52] X. Dong, B. Horn, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, Micromanaging de Sitter holography, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 245020 [1005.5403].
- [53] A. Adams, X. Liu, J. McGreevy, A. Saltman and E. Silverstein, Things fall apart: Topology change from winding tachyons, JHEP 10 (2005) 033 [hep-th/0502021].
- [54] J.M. Maldacena and C. Nunez, Supergravity description of field theories on curved manifolds and a no go theorem, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 16 (2001) 822 [hep-th/0007018].
- [55] M.P. Hertzberg, S. Kachru, W. Taylor and M. Tegmark, Inflationary Constraints on Type IIA String Theory, JHEP 12 (2007) 095 [0711.2512].
- [56] F. Marchesano, G. Shiu and A.M. Uranga, F-term Axion Monodromy Inflation, JHEP 09 (2014) 184 [1404.3040].
- [57] X. Dong, B. Horn, S. Matsuura, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, FRW solutions and holography from uplifted AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. D85 (2012) 104035 [1108.5732].
- [58] L. McAllister, E. Silverstein and A. Westphal, Gravity Waves and Linear Inflation from Axion Monodromy, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 046003 [0808.0706].

- [59] R. Flauger, L. McAllister, E. Pajer, A. Westphal and G. Xu, Oscillations in the CMB from Axion Monodromy Inflation, JCAP 06 (2010) 009 [0907.2916].
- [60] D. Wenren, Tilt and Tensor-to-Scalar Ratio in Multifield Monodromy Inflation, 1405.1411.
- [61] G. D'Amico, N. Kaloper and A. Westphal, Double Monodromy Inflation: A Gravity Waves Factory for CMB-S4, LiteBIRD and LISA, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) L081302 [2101.05861].
- [62] G. D'Amico, N. Kaloper and A. Westphal, Very Hairy Inflation, 2112.13861.
- [63] G. D'Amico, M. Lewandowski, L. Senatore and P. Zhang, Limits on primordial non-Gaussianities from BOSS galaxy-clustering data, 2201.11518.
- [64] G. Italiano, B. Martelli and M. Migliorini, Hyperbolic manifolds that fiber algebraically up to dimension 8, arXiv e-prints (2020) arXiv:2010.10200 [2010.10200].
- [65] I. Agol, Systoles of hyperbolic 4-manifolds, arXiv Mathematics e-prints (2006) [math/0612290].
- [66] S.A. Thomson, Short Geodesics in Hyperbolic Manifolds, Durham e-theses (2012).
- [67] P. Candelas, G.T. Horowitz, A. Strominger and E. Witten, Vacuum Configurations for Superstrings, Nucl. Phys. B 258 (1985) 46.
- [68] S. Gukov, C. Vafa and E. Witten, CFT's from Calabi-Yau four folds, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 69 [hep-th/9906070]. [Erratum: Nucl.Phys.B 608, 477–478 (2001)].
- [69] M. Berg, M. Haack and E. Pajer, Jumping Through Loops: On Soft Terms from Large Volume Compactifications, JHEP 09 (2007) 031 [0704.0737].
- [70] M. Cicoli, F. Quevedo, R. Savelli, A. Schachner and R. Valandro, Systematics of the α' expansion in F-theory, JHEP 08 (2021) 099 [2106.04592].
- [71] M. Berg, M. Haack and B. Kors, On volume stabilization by quantum corrections, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 021601 [hep-th/0508171].
- [72] C.P. Burgess and F. Quevedo, RG-Induced Modulus Stabilization: Perturbative de Sitter Vacua and Improved D3-D3 Inflation, 2202.05344.
- [73] E. Witten, Nonperturbative superpotentials in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 474 (1996) 343
 [hep-th/9604030].
- [74] K. Becker, M. Becker, M. Haack and J. Louis, Supersymmetry breaking and alpha-prime corrections to flux induced potentials, JHEP 06 (2002) 060 [hep-th/0204254].
- [75] R. Blumenhagen, B. Jurke, T. Rahn and H. Roschy, Cohomology of Line Bundles: A Computational Algorithm, J. Math. Phys. 51 (2010) 103525 [1003.5217].
- [76] F. Denef, M.R. Douglas, B. Florea, A. Grassi and S. Kachru, Fixing all moduli in a simple f-theory compactification, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 9 (2005) 861 [hep-th/0503124].
- [77] M. Demirtas, L. McAllister and A. Rios-Tascon, CYTools: A Software Package for Analyzing Calabi-Yau Manifolds, to appear.
- [78] M. Kim, A Note on $h^{2,1}$ of Divisors of CY Fourfolds I, 2107.09779.
- [79] A.P. Braun, C. Long, L. McAllister, M. Stillman and B. Sung, The Hodge Numbers of Divisors of Calabi-Yau Threefold Hypersurfaces, 1712.04946.
- [80] A. Constantin and A. Lukas, Formulae for Line Bundle Cohomology on Calabi-Yau Threefolds, Fortsch. Phys. 67 (2019) 1900084 [1808.09992].

- [81] C. Brodie, A. Constantin, J. Gray, A. Lukas and F. Ruehle, Recent Developments in Line Bundle Cohomology and Applications to String Phenomenology, in Nankai Symposium on Mathematical Dialogues: In celebration of S.S. Chern's 110th anniversary, 12, 2021 [2112.12107].
- [82] A. Sen, Normalization of type IIB D-instanton amplitudes, JHEP 12 (2021) 146 [2104.11109].
- [83] S. Alexandrov, A. Sen and B. Stefański, Euclidean D-branes in type IIB string theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds, JHEP 12 (2021) 044 [2110.06949].
- [84] M. Kim, D-instanton Superpotential in String Theory, 2201.04634.
- [85] F. Denef and M.R. Douglas, Distributions of nonsupersymmetric flux vacua, JHEP 03 (2005) 061 [hep-th/0411183].
- [86] M.R. Douglas and S. Kachru, Flux compactification, Rev. Mod. Phys. 79 (2007) 733 [hep-th/0610102].
- [87] A. Cole, A. Schachner and G. Shiu, Searching the Landscape of Flux Vacua with Genetic Algorithms, JHEP 11 (2019) 045 [1907.10072].
- [88] M. Demirtas, M. Kim, L. Mcallister and J. Moritz, Vacua with Small Flux Superpotential, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 211603 [1912.10047].
- [89] P. Candelas, X.C. De La Ossa, P.S. Green and L. Parkes, A Pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds as an exactly soluble superconformal theory, Nucl. Phys. B 359 (1991) 21.
- [90] S. Hosono, A. Klemm, S. Theisen and S.-T. Yau, Mirror symmetry, mirror map and applications to Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces, Commun. Math. Phys. 167 (1995) 301 [hep-th/9308122].
- [91] Y. Honma and H. Otsuka, Small flux superpotential in F-theory compactifications, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 126022 [2103.03003].
- [92] I. Broeckel, M. Cicoli, A. Maharana, K. Singh and K. Sinha, On the Search for Low W₀, 2108.04266.
- [93] B. Bastian, T.W. Grimm and D. van de Heisteeg, Engineering Small Flux Superpotentials and Mass Hierarchies, 2108.11962.
- [94] F. Carta, A. Mininno and P. Shukla, Systematics of perturbatively flat flux vacua, JHEP 02 (2022) 205 [2112.13863].
- [95] F. Carta, A. Mininno and P. Shukla, Systematics of perturbatively flat flux vacua for CICYs, 2201.10581.
- [96] M. Demirtas, M. Kim, L. Mcallister and J. Moritz, Conifold Vacua with Small Flux Superpotential, 2009.03312.
- [97] R. Álvarez-García, R. Blumenhagen, M. Brinkmann and L. Schlechter, Small Flux Superpotentials for Type IIB Flux Vacua Close to a Conifold, Fortsch. Phys. 68 (2020) 2000088 [2009.03325].
- [98] F. Marchesano, D. Prieto and M. Wiesner, F-theory flux vacua at large complex structure, JHEP 08 (2021) 077 [2105.09326].
- [99] T.W. Grimm, E. Plauschinn and D. van de Heisteeg, Moduli Stabilization in Asymptotic Flux Compactifications, 2110.05511.
- [100] M. Demirtas, M. Kim, L. McAllister, J. Moritz and A. Rios-Tascon, Exponentially Small Cosmological Constant in String Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 011602 [2107.09065].
- [101] S. Kachru, J. Pearson and H.L. Verlinde, Brane / flux annihilation and the string dual of a nonsupersymmetric field theory, JHEP 06 (2002) 021 [hep-th/0112197].
- [102] I. Bena, M. Grana and N. Halmagyi, On the Existence of Meta-stable Vacua in Klebanov-Strassler, JHEP 09 (2010) 087 [0912.3519].

- [103] P. McGuirk, G. Shiu and Y. Sumitomo, Non-supersymmetric infrared perturbations to the warped deformed conifold, Nucl. Phys. B 842 (2011) 383 [0910.4581].
- [104] A. Dymarsky, On gravity dual of a metastable vacuum in Klebanov-Strassler theory, JHEP 05 (2011) 053 [1102.1734].
- [105] B. Michel, E. Mintun, J. Polchinski, A. Puhm and P. Saad, *Remarks on brane and antibrane dynamics*, *JHEP* 09 (2015) 021 [1412.5702].
- [106] J. Polchinski, Brane/antibrane dynamics and KKLT stability, 1509.05710.
- [107] J. Armas, N. Nguyen, V. Niarchos, N.A. Obers and T. Van Riet, Meta-stable non-extremal anti-branes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 181601 [1812.01067].
- [108] S. Ferrara, R. Kallosh and A. Linde, Cosmology with nilpotent superfields, Journal of High Energy Physics 2014 (2014).
- [109] N. Cribiori, C. Roupec, T. Wrase and Y. Yamada, Supersymmetric anti-D3-brane action in the Kachru-Kallosh-Linde-Trivedi setup, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 066001 [1906.07727].
- [110] F. Carta, J. Moritz and A. Westphal, Gaugino condensation and small uplifts in KKLT, JHEP 08 (2019) 141 [1902.01412].
- [111] I. Bena, J. Blåbäck, M. Graña and S. Lüst, The tadpole problem, JHEP 11 (2021) 223 [2010.10519].
- [112] I. Bena, J. Blåbäck, M. Graña and S. Lüst, Algorithmically solving the Tadpole Problem, 2103.03250.
- [113] X. Gao, A. Hebecker, S. Schreyer and G. Venken, The LVS Parametric Tadpole Constraint, 2202.04087.
- [114] X. Gao, A. Hebecker and D. Junghans, Control issues of KKLT, Fortsch. Phys. 68 (2020) 2000089 [2009.03914].
- [115] F. Carta and J. Moritz, Resolving spacetime singularities in flux compactifications & KKLT, JHEP 08 (2021) 093 [2101.05281].
- [116] M. Demirtas, C. Long, L. McAllister and M. Stillman, The Kreuzer-Skarke Axiverse, JHEP 04 (2020) 138 [1808.01282].
- [117] D. Baumann, A. Dymarsky, I.R. Klebanov, J.M. Maldacena, L.P. McAllister and A. Murugan, On D3-brane Potentials in Compactifications with Fluxes and Wrapped D-branes, JHEP 11 (2006) 031 [hep-th/0607050].
- [118] D. Baumann, A. Dymarsky, S. Kachru, I.R. Klebanov and L. McAllister, D3-brane Potentials from Fluxes in AdS/CFT, JHEP 06 (2010) 072 [1001.5028].
- [119] P. Koerber and L. Martucci, From ten to four and back again: How to generalize the geometry, JHEP 08 (2007) 059 [0707.1038].
- [120] A. Dymarsky and L. Martucci, D-brane non-perturbative effects and geometric deformations, JHEP 04 (2011) 061 [1012.4018].
- [121] J. Moritz, A. Retolaza and A. Westphal, Toward de Sitter space from ten dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 046010 [1707.08678].
- [122] F.F. Gautason, V. Van Hemelryck and T. Van Riet, The Tension between 10D Supergravity and dS Uplifts, Fortsch. Phys. 67 (2019) 1800091 [1810.08518].
- [123] Y. Hamada, A. Hebecker, G. Shiu and P. Soler, On brane gaugino condensates in 10d, JHEP 04 (2019) 008 [1812.06097].

- [124] F.F. Gautason, V. Van Hemelryck, T. Van Riet and G. Venken, A 10d view on the KKLT AdS vacuum and uplifting, JHEP 06 (2020) 074 [1902.01415].
- [125] Y. Hamada, A. Hebecker, G. Shiu and P. Soler, Understanding KKLT from a 10d perspective, JHEP 06 (2019) 019 [1902.01410].
- [126] I. Bena, M. Graña, N. Kovensky and A. Retolaza, Kähler moduli stabilization from ten dimensions, JHEP 10 (2019) 200 [1908.01785].
- [127] S. Kachru, M. Kim, L. McAllister and M. Zimet, de Sitter vacua from ten dimensions, JHEP 12 (2021) 111 [1908.04788].
- [128] L. Randall, The Boundaries of KKLT, Fortsch. Phys. 68 (2020) 1900105 [1912.06693].
- [129] Y. Hamada, A. Hebecker, G. Shiu and P. Soler, Completing the D7-brane local gaugino action, JHEP 11 (2021) 033 [2105.11467].
- [130] O.J. Ganor, A Note on zeros of superpotentials in F theory, Nucl. Phys. B 499 (1997) 55 [hep-th/9612077].
- [131] M. Berg, M. Haack and B. Kors, Loop corrections to volume moduli and inflation in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 026005 [hep-th/0404087].
- [132] S. Renaux-Petel and K. Turzyński, Geometrical Destabilization of Inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 141301 [1510.01281].
- [133] L. McAllister, P. Schwaller, G. Servant, J. Stout and A. Westphal, Runaway Relaxion Monodromy, JHEP 02 (2018) 124 [1610.05320].
- [134] A. Hebecker, S.C. Kraus and L.T. Witkowski, D7-Brane Chaotic Inflation, Phys. Lett. B 737 (2014) 16 [1404.3711].
- [135] A. Hebecker, P. Mangat, F. Rompineve and L.T. Witkowski, Tuning and Backreaction in F-term Axion Monodromy Inflation, Nucl. Phys. B 894 (2015) 456 [1411.2032].
- [136] S. Bielleman, L.E. Ibanez, F.G. Pedro, I. Valenzuela and C. Wieck, *Higgs-otic Inflation and Moduli Stabilization*, JHEP 02 (2017) 073 [1611.07084].
- [137] M. Kim and L. McAllister, Monodromy Charge in D7-brane Inflation, JHEP 10 (2020) 060 [1812.03532].
- [138] P.W. Graham, D.E. Kaplan and S. Rajendran, Cosmological Relaxation of the Electroweak Scale, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 221801 [1504.07551].
- [139] D. Eisenbud, M. Mustata and M. Stillman, Cohomology on Toric Varieties and Local Cohomology with Monomial Supports, math/0001159.
- [140] P. Creminelli, M.A. Luty, A. Nicolis and L. Senatore, Starting the Universe: Stable Violation of the Null Energy Condition and Non-standard Cosmologies, JHEP 12 (2006) 080 [hep-th/0606090].
- [141] C. Cheung, P. Creminelli, A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, The Effective Field Theory of Inflation, JHEP 03 (2008) 014 [0709.0293].
- [142] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, The Effective Field Theory of Multifield Inflation, JHEP 04 (2012) 024 [1009.2093].
- [143] T. Noumi, M. Yamaguchi and D. Yokoyama, Effective field theory approach to quasi-single field inflation and effects of heavy fields, JHEP 06 (2013) 051 [1211.1624].
- [144] H. Lee, D. Baumann and G.L. Pimentel, Non-Gaussianity as a Particle Detector, JHEP 12 (2016) 040 [1607.03735].

- [145] D. Baumann and D. Green, Signatures of Supersymmetry from the Early Universe, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 103520 [1109.0292].
- [146] Y. Kahn, D.A. Roberts and J. Thaler, The goldstone and goldstino of supersymmetric inflation, JHEP 10 (2015) 001 [1504.05958].
- [147] L.V. Delacretaz, V. Gorbenko and L. Senatore, The Supersymmetric Effective Field Theory of Inflation, JHEP 03 (2017) 063 [1610.04227].
- [148] X. Chen and Y. Wang, Quasi-Single Field Inflation and Non-Gaussianities, JCAP 04 (2010) 027 [0911.3380].
- [149] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and D. Green, On Soft Limits of Inflationary Correlation Functions, JCAP 11 (2012) 047 [1204.4207].
- [150] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, Cosmological Collider Physics, 1503.08043.
- [151] S.R. Behbahani, A. Dymarsky, M. Mirbabayi and L. Senatore, (Small) Resonant non-Gaussianities: Signatures of a Discrete Shift Symmetry in the Effective Field Theory of Inflation, JCAP 12 (2012) 036 [1111.3373].
- [152] L. Senatore, Lectures on Inflation, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings, pp. 447–543, 2017, DOI [1609.00716].
- [153] M. Alishahiha, E. Silverstein and D. Tong, DBI in the sky, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 123505 [hep-th/0404084].
- [154] X. Chen, R. Easther and E.A. Lim, Generation and Characterization of Large Non-Gaussianities in Single Field Inflation, JCAP 04 (2008) 010 [0801.3295].
- [155] R. Flauger, L. McAllister, E. Silverstein and A. Westphal, Drifting Oscillations in Axion Monodromy, JCAP 10 (2017) 055 [1412.1814].
- [156] R. Flauger, M. Mirbabayi, L. Senatore and E. Silverstein, Productive Interactions: heavy particles and non-Gaussianity, JCAP 10 (2017) 058 [1606.00513].
- [157] E. Pajer, Building a Boostless Bootstrap for the Bispectrum, JCAP 01 (2021) 023 [2010.12818].
- [158] J. Bonifacio, E. Pajer and D.-G. Wang, From amplitudes to contact cosmological correlators, JHEP 10 (2021) 001 [2106.15468].
- [159] "The Cosmological Bootstrap." Snowmass 2021 White Paper, 2022.
- [160] J.M. Maldacena and G.L. Pimentel, On graviton non-Gaussianities during inflation, JHEP 09 (2011) 045 [1104.2846].
- [161] S. Raju, New Recursion Relations and a Flat Space Limit for AdS/CFT Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126009 [1201.6449].
- [162] N. Arkani-Hamed, P. Benincasa and A. Postnikov, Cosmological Polytopes and the Wavefunction of the Universe, 1709.02813.
- [163] N. Arkani-Hamed, D. Baumann, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The Cosmological Bootstrap: Inflationary Correlators from Symmetries and Singularities, JHEP 04 (2020) 105 [1811.00024].
- [164] N. Arkani-Hamed and P. Benincasa, On the Emergence of Lorentz Invariance and Unitarity from the Scattering Facet of Cosmological Polytopes, 1811.01125.
- [165] P. Benincasa, Cosmological Polytopes and the Wavefuncton of the Universe for Light States, 1909.02517.
- [166] P. Benincasa, From the flat-space S-matrix to the Wavefunction of the Universe, 1811.02515.

- [167] D. Baumann, C. Duaso Pueyo, A. Joyce, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The Cosmological Bootstrap: Spinning Correlators from Symmetries and Factorization, SciPost Phys. 11 (2021) 071 [2005.04234].
- [168] H. Elvang and Y.-t. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes in Gauge Theory and Gravity, Cambridge University Press (2015), 10.1017/CBO9781107706620.
- [169] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Implications of conformal invariance in momentum space, JHEP 03 (2014) 111 [1304.7760].
- [170] D. Baumann, C. Duaso Pueyo, A. Joyce, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, *The cosmological bootstrap: weight-shifting operators and scalar seeds*, *JHEP* **12** (2020) 204 [1910.14051].
- [171] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Conformal n-point functions in momentum space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 131602 [1910.10162].
- [172] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri and E. Pajer, The Cosmological Optical Theorem, JCAP 04 (2021) 021 [2009.02898].
- [173] S. Céspedes, A.-C. Davis and S. Melville, On the time evolution of cosmological correlators, JHEP 02 (2021) 012 [2009.07874].
- [174] D. Meltzer and A. Sivaramakrishnan, CFT unitarity and the AdS Cutkosky rules, JHEP 11 (2020) 073
 [2008.11730].
- [175] S. Melville and E. Pajer, Cosmological Cutting Rules, JHEP 05 (2021) 249 [2103.09832].
- [176] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri, M.H. Gordon Lee and E. Pajer, *Cutting cosmological correlators*, *JCAP* 08 (2021) 003 [2104.06587].
- [177] P. Benincasa, A.J. McLeod and C. Vergu, Steinmann Relations and the Wavefunction of the Universe, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 125004 [2009.03047].
- [178] D. Baumann, W.-M. Chen, C. Duaso Pueyo, A. Joyce, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, Linking the Singularities of Cosmological Correlators, 2106.05294.
- [179] S. Jazayeri, E. Pajer and D. Stefanyszyn, From locality and unitarity to cosmological correlators, JHEP 10 (2021) 065 [2103.08649].
- [180] G. Cabass, E. Pajer, D. Stefanyszyn and J. Supeł, Bootstrapping Large Graviton non-Gaussianities, 2109.10189.
- [181] A. Hillman and E. Pajer, A Differential Representation of Cosmological Wavefunctions, 2112.01619.
- [182] D. Meltzer, The inflationary wavefunction from analyticity and factorization, JCAP 12 (2021) 018 [2107.10266].
- [183] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Bootstrapping Inflationary Correlators in Mellin Space, JHEP 02 (2020) 098 [1907.01143].
- [184] L. Di Pietro, V. Gorbenko and S. Komatsu, Analyticity and Unitarity for Cosmological Correlators, 2108.01695.
- [185] M. Hogervorst, J. Penedones and K.S. Vaziri, Towards the non-perturbative cosmological bootstrap, 2107.13871.
- [186] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, From AdS to dS Exchanges: Spectral Representation, Mellin Amplitudes and Crossing, 2007.09993.
- [187] C. Sleight, A Mellin Space Approach to Cosmological Correlators, JHEP 01 (2020) 090 [1906.12302].
- [188] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, From dS to AdS and back, JHEP 12 (2021) 074 [2109.02725].

- [189] D.S. Goldwirth and T. Piran, Inhomogeneity and the Onset of Inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 2852.
- [190] A.D. Linde, Initial Conditions for Inflation, Phys. Lett. B 162 (1985) 281.
- [191] A.D. Linde, Particle physics and inflationary cosmology, vol. 5 (1990), [hep-th/0503203].
- [192] A. Linde, Inflationary Cosmology after Planck 2013, in 100e Ecole d'Ete de Physique: Post-Planck Cosmology, pp. 231–316, 2015, DOI [1402.0526].
- [193] V. Mukhanov, Inflation without Selfreproduction, Fortsch. Phys. 63 (2015) 36 [1409.2335].
- [194] R.M. Wald, Asymptotic behavior of homogeneous cosmological models in the presence of a positive cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. D 28 (1983) 2118.
- [195] J.D. Barrow and F.J. Tipler, Closed universe Their future evolution and final state, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 216 (1985) 395.
- [196] M. Kleban and L. Senatore, Inhomogeneous Anisotropic Cosmology, JCAP 10 (2016) 022 [1602.03520].
- [197] P. Creminelli, O. Hershkovits, L. Senatore and A. Vasy, A de Sitter no-hair theorem for 3+1d Cosmologies with isometry group forming 2-dimensional orbits, 2004.10754.
- [198] J. Wang and L. Senatore, On the asymptotics of 3+1D cosmologies with bounded scalar potential and isometry group forming 2-dimensional orbits, 2111.09257.
- [199] A. Albrecht, R.H. Brandenberger and R. Matzner, Inflation With Generalized Initial Conditions, Phys. Rev. D 35 (1987) 429.
- [200] H. Kurki-Suonio, R.A. Matzner, J. Centrella and J.R. Wilson, Inflation From Inhomogeneous Initial Data in a One-dimensional Back Reacting Cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 35 (1987) 435.
- [201] P. Laguna, H. Kurki-Suonio and R.A. Matzner, Inhomogeneous inflation: The Initial value problem, Phys. Rev. D 44 (1991) 3077.
- [202] H. Kurki-Suonio, P. Laguna and R.A. Matzner, Inhomogeneous inflation: Numerical evolution, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 3611 [astro-ph/9306009].
- [203] W.E. East, M. Kleban, A. Linde and L. Senatore, Beginning inflation in an inhomogeneous universe, JCAP 09 (2016) 010 [1511.05143].
- [204] K. Clough, E.A. Lim, B.S. DiNunno, W. Fischler, R. Flauger and S. Paban, Robustness of Inflation to Inhomogeneous Initial Conditions, JCAP 09 (2017) 025 [1608.04408].
- [205] K. Clough, R. Flauger and E.A. Lim, Robustness of Inflation to Large Tensor Perturbations, JCAP 05 (2018) 065 [1712.07352].
- [206] J.C. Aurrekoetxea, K. Clough, R. Flauger and E.A. Lim, The Effects of Potential Shape on Inhomogeneous Inflation, JCAP 05 (2020) 030 [1910.12547].
- [207] C. Joana and S. Clesse, Inhomogeneous preinflation across Hubble scales in full general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 083501 [2011.12190].
- [208] J.B. Hartle and S.W. Hawking, Wave function of the universe, in Euclidean Quantum Gravity, pp. 310–325, World Scientific (1983).
- [209] J.B. Hartle, S.W. Hawking and T. Hertog, No-Boundary Measure of the Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 201301 [0711.4630].
- [210] A. Vilenkin, Quantum cosmology and eternal inflation, in Workshop on Conference on the Future of

Theoretical Physics and Cosmology in Honor of Stephen Hawking's 60th Birthday, pp. 649–666, 4, 2002 [gr-qc/0204061].

- [211] A.D. Linde, Quantum creation of an open inflationary universe, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 083514 [gr-qc/9802038].
- [212] A. Almheiri, T. Hartman, J. Maldacena, E. Shaghoulian and A. Tajdini, *The entropy of Hawking radiation*, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **93** (2021) 035002 [2006.06872].
- [213] Y. Chen, V. Gorbenko and J. Maldacena, Bra-ket wormholes in gravitationally prepared states, JHEP 02 (2021) 009 [2007.16091].
- [214] T. Hartman, Y. Jiang and E. Shaghoulian, *Islands in cosmology*, *JHEP* **11** (2020) 111 [2008.01022].
- [215] R. Bousso and E. Wildenhain, Islands in Closed and Open Universes, 2202.05278.
- [216] K. Langhoff, C. Murdia and Y. Nomura, Multiverse in an inverted island, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 086007 [2106.05271].
- [217] S.E. Aguilar-Gutierrez, A. Chatwin-Davies, T. Hertog, N. Pinzani-Fokeeva and B. Robinson, Islands in multiverse models, JHEP 11 (2021) 212 [2108.01278].
- [218] W. Sybesma, Pure de Sitter space and the island moving back in time, Class. Quant. Grav. 38 (2021) 145012 [2008.07994].
- [219] L. Aalsma and W. Sybesma, The Price of Curiosity: Information Recovery in de Sitter Space, JHEP 05 (2021) 291 [2104.00006].
- [220] J. Kames-King, E. Verheijden and E. Verlinde, No Page Curves for the de Sitter Horizon, 2108.09318.
- [221] B. Carneiro da Cunha and E.J. Martinec, Closed string tachyon condensation and world sheet inflation, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 063502 [hep-th/0303087].
- [222] L. McAllister and E. Silverstein, String Cosmology: A Review, Gen. Rel. Grav. 40 (2008) 565 [0710.2951].
- [223] A.M. Polyakov, Infrared instability of the de Sitter space, 1209.4135.
- [224] A.A. Starobinsky, In Fundamental Interactions, MGPI Press, Moscow, 1984, Lect. Notes Phys. 246 (1984) 55.
- [225] V. Gorbenko and L. Senatore, $\lambda \phi^4$ in dS, 1911.00022.
- [226] M. Mirbabayi, Infrared dynamics of a light scalar field in de Sitter, JCAP 12 (2020) 006 [1911.00564].
- [227] T. Cohen and D. Green, Soft de Sitter Effective Theory, JHEP 12 (2020) 041 [2007.03693].
- [228] M. Mirbabayi, Markovian dynamics in de Sitter, JCAP 09 (2021) 038 [2010.06604].
- [229] M. Baumgart and R. Sundrum, Manifestly Causal In-In Perturbation Theory about the Interacting Vacuum, JHEP 03 (2021) 080 [2010.10785].
- [230] T. Cohen, D. Green, A. Premkumar and A. Ridgway, Stochastic Inflation at NNLO, JHEP 09 (2021) 159 [2106.09728].
- [231] T. Cohen, D. Green and A. Premkumar, A Tail of Eternal Inflation, 2111.09332.
- [232] D.J.H. Chung, E.W. Kolb, A. Riotto and I.I. Tkachev, Probing Planckian physics: Resonant production of particles during inflation and features in the primordial power spectrum, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 043508 [hep-ph/9910437].
- [233] A.E. Romano and M. Sasaki, Effects of particle production during inflation, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 103522 [0809.5142].

- [234] D. Green, B. Horn, L. Senatore and E. Silverstein, *Trapped Inflation*, *Phys. Rev. D* 80 (2009) 063533 [0902.1006].
- [235] M.A.G. Garcia, M.A. Amin and D. Green, Curvature Perturbations From Stochastic Particle Production During Inflation, JCAP 06 (2020) 039 [2001.09158].
- [236] M. Münchmeyer and K.M. Smith, Higher N-point function data analysis techniques for heavy particle production and WMAP results, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 123511 [1910.00596].
- [237] J.R. Bond, A.V. Frolov, Z. Huang and L. Kofman, Non-Gaussian Spikes from Chaotic Billiards in Inflation Preheating, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 071301 [0903.3407].
- [238] G. Panagopoulos and E. Silverstein, Primordial Black Holes from non-Gaussian tails, 1906.02827.
- [239] X. Chen, G.A. Palma, W. Riquelme, B. Scheihing Hitschfeld and S. Sypsas, Landscape tomography through primordial non-Gaussianity, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 083528 [1804.07315].
- [240] G. Panagopoulos and E. Silverstein, Multipoint correlators in multifield cosmology, 2003.05883.
- [241] M. Celoria, P. Creminelli, G. Tambalo and V. Yingcharoenrat, Beyond perturbation theory in inflation, JCAP 06 (2021) 051 [2103.09244].
- [242] A.R. Brown, Hyperbolic Inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 251601 [1705.03023].
- [243] J.J.M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh and A. Linde, *Minimal supergravity inflation*, *Phys. Rev. D* 93 (2016) 061301 [1512.00546].
- [244] J.R. Bond, J. Braden, T. Galvez and T. Morrison, to appear.
- [245] M. Dias, J. Frazer and M.c.D. Marsh, Seven Lessons from Manyfield Inflation in Random Potentials, JCAP 01 (2018) 036 [1706.03774].
- [246] D. Baumann and D. Green, The Power of Locality: Primordial Non-Gaussianity at the Map Level, 2112.14645.
- [247] S.B. Giddings, The Fate of four-dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 026006 [hep-th/0303031].
- [248] R. Bousso, A. Maloney and A. Strominger, Conformal vacua and entropy in de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 104039 [hep-th/0112218].
- [249] D. Anninos, De Sitter Musings, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 27 (2012) 1230013 [1205.3855].
- [250] A. Strominger, Inflation and the dS / CFT correspondence, JHEP 11 (2001) 049 [hep-th/0110087].
- [251] D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 015009 [1108.5735].
- [252] M. Alishahiha, A. Karch, E. Silverstein and D. Tong, The dS/dS correspondence, AIP Conf. Proc. 743 (2005) 393 [hep-th/0407125].
- [253] B. Freivogel, Y. Sekino, L. Susskind and C.-P. Yeh, A Holographic framework for eternal inflation, Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 086003 [hep-th/0606204].
- [254] T. Banks and W. Fischler, The holographic spacetime model of cosmology, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 27 (2018) 1846005 [1806.01749].
- [255] D. Anninos, S.A. Hartnoll and D.M. Hofman, Static Patch Solipsism: Conformal Symmetry of the de Sitter Worldline, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 075002 [1109.4942].
- [256] L. Susskind, Black Holes Hint Towards De Sitter-Matrix Theory, 2109.01322.
- [257] E. Shaghoulian, The central dogma and cosmological horizons, 2110.13210.
- [258] L. Susskind, Entanglement and Chaos in De Sitter Holography: An SYK Example, 2109.14104.

- [259] D. Anninos and D.M. Hofman, Infrared Realization of dS₂ in AdS₂, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 085003 [1703.04622].
- [260] S. Cooper, M. Rozali, B. Swingle, M. Van Raamsdonk, C. Waddell and D. Wakeham, Black hole microstate cosmology, JHEP 07 (2019) 065 [1810.10601].
- [261] G.W. Gibbons and S.W. Hawking, Cosmological Event Horizons, Thermodynamics, and Particle Creation, Phys. Rev. D 15 (1977) 2738.
- [262] D. Anninos, F. Denef, Y.T.A. Law and Z. Sun, Quantum de Sitter horizon entropy from quasicanonical bulk, edge, sphere and topological string partition functions, 2009.12464.
- [263] T. Hartman, C.A. Keller and B. Stoica, Universal spectrum of 2d conformal field theory in the large c limit, Journal of High Energy Physics 2014 (2014).
- [264] B. Mukhametzhanov and A. Zhiboedov, Modular invariance, tauberian theorems and microcanonical entropy, JHEP 10 (2019) 261 [1904.06359].
- [265] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 99 [hep-th/9601029].
- [266] F.A. Smirnov and A.B. Zamolodchikov, On space of integrable quantum field theories, Nucl. Phys. B915 (2017) 363 [1608.05499].
- [267] A. Cavaglia, S. Negro, I.M. Szecsenyi and R. Tateo, TT-deformed 2D Quantum Field Theories, JHEP 10 (2016) 112 [1608.05534].
- [268] S. Dubovsky, R. Flauger and V. Gorbenko, Solving the Simplest Theory of Quantum Gravity, JHEP 09 (2012) 133 [1205.6805].
- [269] L. McGough, M. Mezei and H. Verlinde, Moving the CFT into the bulk with TT, JHEP 04 (2018) 010 [1611.03470].
- [270] P. Kraus, J. Liu and D. Marolf, Cutoff AdS_3 versus the $T\overline{T}$ deformation, JHEP **07** (2018) 027 [1801.02714].
- [271] V. Gorbenko, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, dS/dS and $T\overline{T}$, JHEP 03 (2019) 085 [1811.07965].
- [272] A. Lewkowycz, J. Liu, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, TT and EE, with implications for (A)dS subregion encodings, JHEP 04 (2020) 152 [1909.13808].
- [273] E. Coleman, E.A. Mazenc, V. Shyam, E. Silverstein, R.M. Soni, G. Torroba and S. Yang, de Sitter Microstates from TT

 – Λ₂ and the Hawking-Page Transition, 2110.14670.
- [274] V. Shyam, $T\overline{T} + \Lambda_2$ Deformed CFT on the Stretched dS₃ Horizon, 2106.10227.
- [275] Y. Jiang, A pedagogical review on solvable irrelevant deformations of 2D quantum field theory, Commun. Theor. Phys. 73 (2021) 057201 [1904.13376].
- [276] X. Dong, B. Horn, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, Moduli Stabilization and the Holographic RG for AdS and dS, JHEP 06 (2013) 089 [1209.5392].
- [277] X. Dong, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, De sitter holography and entanglement entropy, JHEP 07 (2018) 050 [1804.08623].
- [278] D. Anninos and E. Harris, Three-dimensional de Sitter horizon thermodynamics, 2106.13832.
- [279] Y. Hikida, T. Nishioka, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, Holography in de sitter space via chern-simons gauge theory, 2021.
- [280] B. Freivogel, V.E. Hubeny, A. Maloney, R.C. Myers, M. Rangamani and S. Shenker, Inflation in AdS/CFT, JHEP 03 (2006) 007 [hep-th/0510046].

- [281] D.J. Gross, J. Kruthoff, A. Rolph and E. Shaghoulian, TT in AdS₂ and Quantum Mechanics, 1907.04873.
- [282] L. Aalsma and G. Shiu, Chaos and complementarity in de Sitter space, JHEP 05 (2020) 152 [2002.01326].
- [283] L. Aalsma, A. Cole, E. Morvan, J.P. van der Schaar and G. Shiu, Shocks and information exchange in de Sitter space, JHEP 10 (2021) 104 [2105.12737].
- [284] D. Anninos, D.A. Galante and D.M. Hofman, De Sitter horizons & holographic liquids, JHEP 07 (2019) 038 [1811.08153].
- [285] T. Hartman, J. Kruthoff, E. Shaghoulian and A. Tajdini, Holography at finite cutoff with a T² deformation, 1807.11401.
- [286] P. Horava and E. Witten, Eleven-dimensional supergravity on a manifold with boundary, Nucl. Phys. B 475 (1996) 94 [hep-th/9603142].
- [287] T. Andrade, W.R. Kelly, D. Marolf and J.E. Santos, On the stability of gravity with Dirichlet walls, Class. Quant. Grav. 32 (2015) 235006 [1504.07580].
- [288] E. Witten, A note on boundary conditions in Euclidean gravity, Rev. Math. Phys. 33 (2021) 2140004
 [1805.11559].
- [289] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603].
- [290] D. Anninos, F. Denef, R. Monten and Z. Sun, Higher Spin de Sitter Hilbert Space, JHEP 10 (2019) 071 [1711.10037].
- [291] Y. Hikida, T. Nishioka, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, Holography in de Sitter Space via Chern-Simons Gauge Theory, 2110.03197.
- [292] D. Anninos and B. Mühlmann, The semiclassical gravitational path integral and random matrices (toward a microscopic picture of a dS₂ universe), JHEP 12 (2021) 206 [2111.05344].
- [293] A. Svesko, E. Verheijden, E.P. Verlinde and M.R. Visser, Quasi-local energy and microcanonical entropy in two-dimensional nearly de Sitter gravity, 2203.00700.
- [294] BICEP, KECK collaboration, Improved Constraints on Primordial Gravitational Waves using Planck, WMAP, and BICEP/Keck Observations through the 2018 Observing Season, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 151301 [2110.00483].
- [295] D.H. Lyth, What would we learn by detecting a gravitational wave signal in the cosmic microwave background anisotropy?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 78 (1997) 1861 [hep-ph/9606387].
- [296] F.L. Bezrukov and M. Shaposhnikov, The Standard Model Higgs boson as the inflaton, Phys. Lett. B 659 (2008) 703 [0710.3755].
- [297] G. Ballesteros, J. Redondo, A. Ringwald and C. Tamarit, Standard Model—axion—seesaw—Higgs portal inflation. Five problems of particle physics and cosmology solved in one stroke, JCAP 08 (2017) 001 [1610.01639].
- [298] M. Cicoli, C.P. Burgess and F. Quevedo, Fibre Inflation: Observable Gravity Waves from IIB String Compactifications, JCAP 03 (2009) 013 [0808.0691].
- [299] R. Kallosh, A. Linde and D. Roest, Superconformal Inflationary α-Attractors, JHEP 11 (2013) 198 [1311.0472].
- [300] R. Kallosh, A. Linde and D. Roest, Large field inflation and double α -attractors, JHEP **08** (2014) 052 [1405.3646].

- [301] J.J.M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh and A. Linde, α-Attractors: Planck, LHC and Dark Energy, JHEP 10 (2015) 147 [1506.01708].
- [302] S. Ferrara and R. Kallosh, Seven-disk manifold, α -attractors, and B modes, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 126015 [1610.04163].
- [303] R. Kallosh, A. Linde, T. Wrase and Y. Yamada, Maximal Supersymmetry and B-Mode Targets, JHEP 04 (2017) 144 [1704.04829].
- [304] G. Cabass, M.M. Ivanov, O.H.E. Philcox, M. Simonović and M. Zaldarriaga, Constraints on Single-Field Inflation from the BOSS Galaxy Survey, 2201.07238.
- [305] BOSS collaboration, The clustering of galaxies in the completed SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: cosmological analysis of the DR12 galaxy sample, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 470 (2017) 2617 [1607.03155].
- [306] F.-Y. Cyr-Racine, T. Eifler, R. Flauger, M. Ivanov, M. LoVerde, C. B. de S. Nascimento, A. Peter et al., "Data-Driven Cosmology." *Snowmass 2021 White Paper*, 2022.
- [307] G.L. Pimentel, B. Wallisch, W.L.K. Wu et al., "Inflation: Theory and Observations." Snowmass 2021 White Paper, 2022.
- [308] M.A. Amin, M.P. Hertzberg, D.I. Kaiser and J. Karouby, Nonperturbative Dynamics Of Reheating After Inflation: A Review, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 24 (2014) 1530003 [1410.3808].
- [309] B.S. Acharya, K. Bobkov and P. Kumar, An M Theory Solution to the Strong CP Problem and Constraints on the Axiverse, JHEP 11 (2010) 105 [1004.5138].
- [310] M. Cicoli, M. Goodsell and A. Ringwald, The type IIB string axiverse and its low-energy phenomenology, JHEP 10 (2012) 146 [1206.0819].
- [311] I. Broeckel, M. Cicoli, A. Maharana, K. Singh and K. Sinha, Moduli stabilisation and the statistics of axion physics in the landscape, JHEP 08 (2021) 059 [2105.02889]. [Addendum: JHEP 01, 191 (2022)].
- [312] T.C. Bachlechner, K. Eckerle, O. Janssen and M. Kleban, Axion Landscape Cosmology, JCAP 09 (2019) 062 [1810.02822].
- [313] N. Kitajima, J. Soda and Y. Urakawa, Gravitational wave forest from string axiverse, JCAP 10 (2018) 008 [1807.07037].
- [314] P. Agrawal, A. Hook and J. Huang, A CMB Millikan experiment with cosmic axiverse strings, JHEP 07 (2020) 138 [1912.02823].
- [315] J. March-Russell and H. Tillim, Axiverse Strings, 2109.14637.
- [316] M. Calzà, J. March-Russell and J.G. Rosa, Evaporating primordial black holes, the string axiverse, and hot dark radiation, 2110.13602.
- [317] M. Cicoli, V. Guidetti, N. Righi and A. Westphal, Fuzzy Dark Matter Candidates from String Theory, 2110.02964.
- [318] L. Hui, J.P. Ostriker, S. Tremaine and E. Witten, Ultralight scalars as cosmological dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 043541 [1610.08297].
- [319] D. Cyncynates, T. Giurgica-Tiron, O. Simon and J.O. Thompson, Friendship in the Axiverse: Late-time direct and astrophysical signatures of early-time nonlinear axion dynamics, 2109.09755.
- [320] M.C.D. Marsh, H.R. Russell, A.C. Fabian, B.P. McNamara, P. Nulsen and C.S. Reynolds, A New Bound on Axion-Like Particles, JCAP 12 (2017) 036 [1703.07354].
- [321] R.Z. Ferreira, M.C.D. Marsh and E. Müller, *Do direct detection experiments constrain axionlike* particles coupled to electrons?, 2202.08858.

- [322] J. Halverson, C. Long, B. Nelson and G. Salinas, Towards string theory expectations for photon couplings to axionlike particles, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 106010 [1909.05257].
- [323] E. Komatsu, New physics from polarised light of the cosmic microwave background, 2202.13919.
- [324] R. Holman, S.D.H. Hsu, T.W. Kephart, E.W. Kolb, R. Watkins and L.M. Widrow, Solutions to the strong CP problem in a world with gravity, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 132 [hep-ph/9203206].
- [325] S.M. Barr and D. Seckel, Planck-scale corrections to axion models, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 539.
- [326] M. Kamionkowski and J. March-Russell, Planck scale physics and the Peccei-Quinn mechanism, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 137 [hep-th/9202003].
- [327] M. Demirtas, N. Gendler, C. Long, L. McAllister and J. Moritz, PQ Axiverse, 2112.04503.
- [328] V.M. Mehta, M. Demirtas, C. Long, D.J.E. Marsh, L. McAllister and M.J. Stott, Superradiance in string theory, JCAP 07 (2021) 033 [2103.06812].
- [329] D.J.E. Marsh, Axion Cosmology, Phys. Rept. 643 (2016) 1 [1510.07633].
- [330] P. Agrawal, K. Berghaus, J. Fan, A. Hook, J. Huang, G. Marques Tavares and T. Rudelius, Snowmass 2021 CF2 White Paper: Some Open Questions in Axion Theory.
- [331] P. Hintz and A. Vasy, The global non-linear stability of the Kerr-de Sitter family of black holes, Acta Mathematica 220 (2018) 1.
- [332] J.G. Ratcliffe, Foundations of hyperbolic manifolds, Springer, New York (2006).
- [333] D.R. Green, A. Lawrence, J. McGreevy, D.R. Morrison and E. Silverstein, *Dimensional duality*, *Phys. Rev. D* 76 (2007) 066004 [0705.0550].
- [334] S. Kachru, A. Tripathy and M. Zimet, K3 metrics, 2006.02435.
- [335] M. Demirtas, L. McAllister and A. Rios-Tascon, Bounding the Kreuzer-Skarke Landscape, Fortsch. Phys. 68 (2020) 2000086 [2008.01730].
- [336] S. Ashok and M.R. Douglas, Counting flux vacua, JHEP 01 (2004) 060 [hep-th/0307049].
- [337] F. Denef and M.R. Douglas, Distributions of flux vacua, JHEP 05 (2004) 072 [hep-th/0404116].
- [338] W. Taylor and Y.-N. Wang, The F-theory geometry with most flux vacua, JHEP 12 (2015) 164 [1511.03209].
- [339] F. Denef and M.R. Douglas, Computational complexity of the landscape. I., Annals Phys. 322 (2007) 1096 [hep-th/0602072].
- [340] F. Denef, M.R. Douglas, B. Greene and C. Zukowski, *Computational complexity of the landscape* II—Cosmological considerations, Annals Phys. **392** (2018) 93 [1706.06430].
- [341] J. Halverson and F. Ruehle, Computational Complexity of Vacua and Near-Vacua in Field and String Theory, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 046015 [1809.08279].
- [342] N. Bao, R. Bousso, S. Jordan and B. Lackey, Fast optimization algorithms and the cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 103512 [1706.08503].
- [343] A. Cole and G. Shiu, Topological Data Analysis for the String Landscape, JHEP 03 (2019) 054 [1812.06960].
- [344] J. Khoury and O. Parrikar, Search Optimization, Funnel Topography, and Dynamical Criticality on the String Landscape, JCAP 12 (2019) 014 [1907.07693].
- [345] J. Blåbäck, U. Danielsson and G. Dibitetto, Fully stable dS vacua from generalised fluxes, JHEP 08 (2013) 054 [1301.7073].

- [346] J. Blåbäck, U. Danielsson and G. Dibitetto, Accelerated Universes from type IIA Compactifications, JCAP 03 (2014) 003 [1310.8300].
- [347] S. Abel and J. Rizos, Genetic Algorithms and the Search for Viable String Vacua, JHEP 08 (2014) 010 [1404.7359].
- [348] S. AbdusSalam, S. Abel, M. Cicoli, F. Quevedo and P. Shukla, A systematic approach to Kähler moduli stabilisation, JHEP 08 (2020) 047 [2005.11329].
- [349] G.J. Loges and G. Shiu, Breeding realistic D-brane models, 2112.08391.
- [350] J. Halverson, B. Nelson and F. Ruehle, Branes with Brains: Exploring String Vacua with Deep Reinforcement Learning, JHEP 06 (2019) 003 [1903.11616].
- [351] M. Larfors and R. Schneider, Explore and Exploit with Heterotic Line Bundle Models, Fortsch. Phys. 68 (2020) 2000034 [2003.04817].
- [352] S. Krippendorf, R. Kroepsch and M. Syvaeri, Revealing systematics in phenomenologically viable flux vacua with reinforcement learning, 2107.04039.
- [353] A. Constantin, T.R. Harvey and A. Lukas, Heterotic String Model Building with Monad Bundles and Reinforcement Learning, 2108.07316.
- [354] A. Cole, S. Krippendorf, A. Schachner and G. Shiu, Probing the Structure of String Theory Vacua with Genetic Algorithms and Reinforcement Learning, in 35th Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, 11, 2021 [2111.11466].
- [355] X. Chen, M.-x. Huang, S. Kachru and G. Shiu, Observational signatures and non-Gaussianities of general single field inflation, JCAP 01 (2007) 002 [hep-th/0605045].
- [356] I.G. Moss and C. Xiong, Non-Gaussianity in fluctuations from warm inflation, JCAP 04 (2007) 007 [astro-ph/0701302].
- [357] D. Lopez Nacir, R.A. Porto, L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, Dissipative effects in the Effective Field Theory of Inflation, JHEP 01 (2012) 075 [1109.4192].
- [358] A. Cole and G. Shiu, Persistent Homology and Non-Gaussianity, JCAP 03 (2018) 025 [1712.08159].
- [359] M. Biagetti, A. Cole and G. Shiu, The Persistence of Large Scale Structures I: Primordial non-Gaussianity, JCAP 04 (2021) 061 [2009.04819].
- [360] M. Schmittfull, T. Baldauf and M. Zaldarriaga, Iterative initial condition reconstruction, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 023505 [1704.06634].
- [361] P.L. Taylor, T.D. Kitching, J. Alsing, B.D. Wandelt, S.M. Feeney and J.D. McEwen, Cosmic Shear: Inference from Forward Models, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 023519 [1904.05364].
- [362] B. Dai and U. Seljak, Learning effective physical laws for generating cosmological hydrodynamics with Lagrangian Deep Learning, 2010.02926.
- [363] C. Modi, F. Lanusse and U. Seljak, FlowPM: Distributed TensorFlow implementation of the FastPM cosmological N-body solver, Astron. Comput. 37 (2021) 100505 [2010.11847].
- [364] C. Modi, F. Lanusse, U. Seljak, D.N. Spergel and L. Perreault-Levasseur, CosmicRIM : Reconstructing Early Universe by Combining Differentiable Simulations with Recurrent Inference Machines, 2104.12864.
- [365] T.L. Makinen, T. Charnock, J. Alsing and B.D. Wandelt, Lossless, scalable implicit likelihood inference for cosmological fields, JCAP 11 (2021) 049 [2107.07405].
- [366] S. Hassan et al., HIFlow: Generating Diverse HI Maps Conditioned on Cosmology using Normalizing Flow, 2110.02983.

- [367] F. Villaescusa-Navarro et al., Multifield Cosmology with Artificial Intelligence, 2109.09747.
- [368] F. Villaescusa-Navarro et al., Robust marginalization of baryonic effects for cosmological inference at the field level, 2109.10360.
- [369] A. Cole, B.K. Miller, S.J. Witte, M.X. Cai, M.W. Grootes, F. Nattino and C. Weniger, Fast and Credible Likelihood-Free Cosmology with Truncated Marginal Neural Ratio Estimation, 2111.08030.
- [370] L.B. Anderson, M. Gerdes, J. Gray, S. Krippendorf, N. Raghuram and F. Ruehle, Moduli-dependent Calabi-Yau and SU(3)-structure metrics from Machine Learning, JHEP 05 (2021) 013 [2012.04656].
- [371] M.R. Douglas, S. Lakshminarasimhan and Y. Qi, Numerical Calabi-Yau metrics from holomorphic networks, 2012.04797.
- [372] V. Jejjala, D.K. Mayorga Pena and C. Mishra, Neural Network Approximations for Calabi-Yau Metrics, 2012.15821.
- [373] G.B. De Luca and E. Silverstein, Born-Infeld (BI) for AI: Energy-Conserving Descent (ECD) for Optimization, 2201.11137.
- [374] D. Baumann, A. Dymarsky, I.R. Klebanov and L. McAllister, Towards an Explicit Model of D-brane Inflation, JCAP 01 (2008) 024 [0706.0360].
- [375] D. Baumann, A. Dymarsky, S. Kachru, I.R. Klebanov and L. McAllister, *Holographic Systematics of D-brane Inflation*, JHEP 03 (2009) 093 [0808.2811].
- [376] S. Gandhi, L. McAllister and S. Sjors, A Toolkit for Perturbing Flux Compactifications, JHEP 12 (2011) 053 [1106.0002].
- [377] O. Aharony, Y.E. Antebi and M. Berkooz, Open string moduli in KKLT compactifications, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 106009 [hep-th/0508080].
- [378] L. Kofman and P. Yi, Reheating the universe after string theory inflation, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 106001 [hep-th/0507257].
- [379] D. Chialva, G. Shiu and B. Underwood, Warped reheating in multi-throat brane inflation, JHEP 01 (2006) 014 [hep-th/0508229].
- [380] X. Chen and S.H.H. Tye, Heating in brane inflation and hidden dark matter, JCAP 06 (2006) 011 [hep-th/0602136].
- [381] P. de Haan, C. Rainone, M.C.N. Cheng and R. Bondesan, Scaling Up Machine Learning For Quantum Field Theory with Equivariant Continuous Flows, 2110.02673.
- [382] J. Halverson, Building Quantum Field Theories Out of Neurons, 2112.04527.
- [383] D.A. Roberts, S. Yaida and B. Hanin, The principles of deep learning theory, 2106.10165.